
REGIONAL SERVICES COMMITTEE SPECIAL AGENDA

Wednesday, March 14, 2018

3:00 PM - BOARD ROOM

1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

2. PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD

The purpose of the Public Input Period is to provide the public with an opportunity to comment
on an agenda item before the Board / Committee / Commission considers the item. The Public
Input Period Procedure Policy provides for the public input period to proceed in a timely fashion.
Public Input Period items cannot include matters which are, or have been, the subject of a
Public Hearing.

3. DELEGATIONS

4. CORRESPONDENCE

5. INFORMATION

6. REPORTS

R1. Report by the General Manager, Corporate Services Re: 2018 Regional Grant-in-Aid
Applications

Recommendation For Direction

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

8. NEW BUSINESS

9. QUESTION PERIOD

Questions shall be addressed to the Chair and must be truly questions and not statements of
opinions. Questioners are not permitted to make a speech.

10. CLOSED SESSION

Motion that the meeting be closed to the public in accordance with theCommunity Charter Part
4, Division 3, Section 90, subsections as noted in accordance with each agenda item.

11. ADJOURNMENT



 

STAFF REPORT TO 
COMMITTEE

 
DATE OF REPORT March 7, 2018 
MEETING TYPE & DATE Regional Services Committee Meeting of March 14, 2018 
FROM: General Manager 

Corporate Services Department 
SUBJECT: 2018 Regional Grant-in-Aid Applications 
FILE:  

 
 
PURPOSE/INTRODUCTION 
The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with the eligible 2018 Regional Grant-in-
Aid Applications that were submitted by January 31, 2018. 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION  
For direction. 

BACKGROUND  
The Cowichan Valley Regional District has a newly adopted Regional Grant-in-Aid Policy that 
includes an online application with a 2018 deadline date of January 31 (see attachment A). The 
Board has adopted its 2018 Five Year Financial Plan bylaw that includes a Regional Grant-in-Aid 
amount of $150,000. 

The Grant-in-Aid applications have been distributed early to allow the Board members an 
opportunity to spend some time reviewing the applications and evaluating them based on the new 
policies criteria, a matrix with the criteria was also included in that package. For your convenience 
the new policy, the historical distribution and the applications themselves are attached to this 
meeting. 

ANALYSIS  
Based on the Boards new policy, during the entire month of January the CVRD advertised (for the 
first time) that a Regional Grant-in-Aid program was open for organizations that were eligible, and 
met the criteria, with a closing date of January 31, 2018. Staff reviewed all applications for eligibility 
and are now forwarding those that met the eligibility criteria. The new policy requires the Regional 
Services Committee to evaluate the applications based on the policies five criteria: 

• new, incremental initiatives; 
• community need; 
• geographical scope; 
• community development; and 
• cost effectiveness. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS  
Total grant funds in function 100 (General Government) is $150,000 and the 2018 grant 
applications that are eligible total $407,436.  
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COMMUNICATION CONSIDERATIONS  
Letters will be sent to all applicants informing them if they were successful or not. Successful 
applicants will also be informed that they are required to submit a final report detailing how the 
funds were used and how the community benefited and any outcomes if applicable.  

STRATEGIC/BUSINESS PLAN CONSIDERATIONS  
The giving of Grants-in-Aid is not included in the Corporate Strategic Plan.  

Referred to (upon completion): 

 ☐ Community Services (Island Savings Centre, Cowichan Lake Recreation, South Cowichan  
  Recreation, Arts & Culture, Public Safety, Facilities & Transit) 
 ☐ Corporate Services (Finance, Human Resources, Legislative Services, Information Technology,  
  Procurement) 
 ☐ Engineering Services (Environmental Services, Recycling & Waste Management, Water   
  Management) 

 ☐ Land Use Services (Community Planning, Development Services, Inspection & Enforcement, 
Economic Development, Parks & Trails) 

 ☐ Strategic Services 

 
Prepared by:  Reviewed by: 

  
Mark Kueber, CPA, CGA 
General Manager 

 

  
Not Applicable 
Not Applicable 

  
Not Applicable 
Not Applicable 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A – Regional Grants-in-Aid Policy 
Attachment B – Regional Grants-in-Aid History 
Attachment C – 2018 Applications 
 



REGIONAL GRANT-IN-AID POLICY 
Applicability:   All CVRD 

Effective Date:  November 29, 2017 

PURPOSE: 
To provide guidelines and structure for the evaluation, award and communicating of regional 
grants-in-aid. 

POLICY: 

Authority 
Section 263(1)(c) of the Local Government Act gives authority for local governments to provide 
assistance for the purpose of benefiting the community or any aspect of the community. 

Regional Grant-in-Aid Purpose 
To invest in community led projects and programs that fall outside regular service functions and 
are important for building a vibrant, resilient and liveable region. 

Principles 
The following principles should guide applications for, and issuance of regional grants-in-aid: 

1. Benefits should be regional in scope. Grants should support projects or initiatives that
serve or benefit residents throughout the regional district or in multiple electoral areas and
municipalities.

2. The issuance of grants should be transparent in terms of awareness of, and access to the
program.

3. Recipients of grants must be accountable for the use of funds in accordance with their
application.

4. Grants should support and encourage innovation in the delivery of services or benefits.

5. Applicants should demonstrate their intent to become self-sustainable, in the absence of
CVRD grants, in future years.

6. Grants should allow the Board to be flexible and responsive to emerging needs or unique
opportunities.

Eligibility 
1. Only non-profit registered societies are eligible for grants.

2. No grants will be provided to individuals or private business.

3. The applicant will not give grants to individuals, families or businesses.

4. The organization will not receive taxes or requisition funds from local governments on an

Attachment A
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annual basis. 

5. Project types may include special events (one time or recurring), the establishment of new 
or enhanced programs and services, or capital projects for public-use facilities. 

Financial 
1. The annual regional grant-in-aid budget is limited to $150,000. 

2. Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for 
events/services. 

Application process 
1. An open call for applications will be advertised. 

2. Applications must be submitted on electronic forms (paper forms for 2018). 

3. There will be an application deadline of November 30 (January 31 in 2018). Late 
applications will not be considered 

4. Multi-year projects (up to 3 years) will submit a project renewal request annually by 
November 30 (January 31 in 2018) that includes an interim progress report. 

5. The CVRD will redirect grant-in-aid applicants/applications that are not regional in nature 
to the more appropriate jurisdiction for consideration.  

Approval Process 
1. The Assistant Manager, Finance will review all applications for eligibility. 

2. Eligible applications will be forwarded to the Regional Services Committee (RSC) for 
evaluation using the following criteria: 

a. New, Incremental Initiatives;  

b. Community Need; 

c. Geographic Scope; 

d. Community Development; and 

e. Cost Effectiveness. 

3. The RSC will forward recommended applications to the CVRD Board for approval. 

4. Presentations will be made by applicants at the Board’s discretion. 

Communication 
1. The Assistant Manager, Finance will advise successful applicants of their grant amount. 

2. Grants will be released upon adoption of the annual budget. 

3. Successful applicants will be required to submit a report by February 28 which includes 
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the following: 

a. Annual financial statements; and 

b. Report on: 

i. How the funds were spent; 

ii. Achievements; and  

iii. Outcomes that support that application. 

 

 

 

 

Approved by: CVRD Board 
Approval date: November 29, 2017 



COWICHAN VALLEY REGIONAL DISTRICT
REGIONAL GRANT-IN-AID HISTORY

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 Total
Assoc of Vancouver Island & Coastal Communities 1,000 1,000
Auxiliary to Cowichan District Hospital 1,000 600 600 600 535 3,335
BC Coalition for Health Promotion 500 500
BC Forest Discovery Centre 20,000      50,000 50,000 120,000
BC Seniors Games Society 30,000 30,000
Big Brothers Big Sisters of the Cowichan Valley 10,000 10,000    20,000
Byte Camp 3,100 3,100
Canada World Youth Transit Passes 2,565 2,565
Canadian Mental Health Assoc. 7,500 7,500 15,000
Chemainus Theatre Festival Society 12,000 10,000    22,000
Chemainus Valley Cultural Arts Society 1,942 2,000 3,942
Chesterfield Sports Society 145,111 146,500 100,000 100,000 100,000 80,000 80,000 500 3,500 500 756,111
Children & Family Council of the Cowichan Region & Communities 1,000 1,000
Cowichan 2008 North American Indigenous Games 250,000 250,000 500,000
Cowichan Community Land Trust 20,000      2,000 22,000
Cowichan Energy Alternatives 20,000    21,364 41,364
Cowichan Estuary Restoration and Conservation Association 5,000 5,000
Cowichan Exhibition Society 2,400 2,400
Cowichan Folk Guild 3,000 3,000
Cowichan Green Community 30,000      29,133 30,000 20,000 15,000 2,200 126,333
Cowichan Historical Society 4,500 4,500
Cowichan Intercultural and Immigrant Aid Society 12,000    4,000        16,000
Cowichan Intercultural Festival of Film & Arts Society 5,000        5,000
Cowichan Lake and River Stewardship Society 5,000 5,000
Cowichan Lake Salmonid Enhancement Society 5,000 5,000
Cowichan Music Festival Society 5,000 5,500 10,500
Cowichan Therapuetic Riding Association 5,000 5,000
Cowichan Valley Amateur Radio Society 11,800    12,000      23,800
Cowichan Valley Arts Council 26,000      18,451 25,000 19,000 16,000 25,000 1,700 131,151
Cowichan Valley Caregivers 20,000      29,133 40,000 3,500 92,633
Cowichan Valley Community Radio Society 6,000      6,000
Cowichan Valley Fire Chief's Assocation 40,000 40,000
Cowichan Valley Firefighters Honour Guard 2,500      2,500
Cowichan Valley Hospice Society 48,555 50,000 3,000 101,555
Cowichan Valley Intercultural - Multicultural Leadership Group 5,000 5,000
Cowichan Valley Intercultural - Syrian Refugee Fund 7,000 7,000
Cowichan Valley Naturalist's Society 7,500 2,000      3,390 12,890
Cowichan Valley Performing Arts Foundation 8,000 8,000      6,000        2,428 24,428
Cowichan Valley Safer Futures 8,000 8,000
Cowichan Valley Special Oympics 155 200 355
Cowichan Valley Symphony Society 5,000        5,000
Cowichan Women Against Violence Society 27,500 25,000 8,000 60,500
Cowichan Wooden Boat Society 50,000 50,000
Cycle Cowichan 500           500
Duncan Firefighters Association 575 575
Future Corp Cowichan 500 1,000 1,500
Inclusive Leadership Co-Operative 10,000 10,000      20,000
Island Corridor Foundation 54,401 54,401
Ladysmith & District Arts Council 3,884 4,000 4,000 11,884
Ladysmith Festival of Lights Society 20,000 20,000
Ladysmith Little Theatre 7,000 2,000      9,000
Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society 10,000 10,000    20,000
Our Cowichan 3,000 3,000
OUR Ecovillage 25,000 20,000 10,000 55,000
Palm Court Light Orchestra 3,000      3,000
Providence Farm 7,000 2,000      5,000 2,000 16,000
Raptors Rescue Society 2,834      2,834
Shawnigan Cobble Hill Farmers Institure and Agricultural Society 5,000      5,000
Social Planning Cowichan 55,000 52,500 2,000 109,500
Somenos Marsh Wildlife Society 2,000      2,000
South Cowichan Chamber of Commerce 1,000 1,000
St. John Ambulance 1,000 2,000 1,700 4,700
Vancouver Island Providence Community 1,000 3,000 4,000
Volunteer Cowichan 20,000 20,000
Warmland House 1,000 1,000
West Coast Men's Support Society 5,000        5,000

Island Corridor Foundation * 122,025  122,025 244,050 488,100
Totals 230,100$  $231,159 163,500$  $422,026 625,550$  $198,000 135,000$  $100,000 101,000$  $412,500 406,601$  $14,500 35,565$  $30,000 5,100$  $8,220 20,000$  $11,635 8,000$  $3,158,456

*Funds committed, not dispersed
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 2018 Regional Grants-in-Aid Applicants      

Tax Impact 
per $100,000
Residential
Assessment

General Regional Grants-in-Aid Applications
2018 Budget $150,000

BC Forest Discovery Centre $18,000 $0.091
BC Marble International Sculpture Association $10,000 $0.050
Clements Centre Society $50,000 $0.252
Cobble Hill Events Society $3,500 $0.018
Cobble Hill United Merchants Society $20,000 $0.101
Cowichan Beekeepers Society $1,500 $0.008
Cowichan Green Community $40,000 $0.202
Cowichan Historical Society $5,000 $0.025
Cowichan Housing Association $10,000 $0.050
Cowichan Intercultural Society $10,000 $0.050
Cowichan Valley Naturalists' Society $7,500 $0.038
Duncan Cowichan Chamber of Commerce $1,800 $0.009
Handmade Hugs Society $1,000 $0.005
Hiiye'yu Leleum (House of Friendship) Society $50,000 $0.252
Inclusive Leadership Co-operative $10,000 $0.050
Ladysmith Family and Friends Society $2,500 $0.013
Ladysmith Festival of Lights Society $40,000 $0.202
Lake Days Society $10,000 $0.050
Literacy Now Cowichan Society $10,000 $0.050
Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society $5,000 $0.025
Nichiren Buddha Hokkeko (Lotus) Society $10,000 $0.050
Oak Park Heritage Preservation Society $20,000 $0.101
Providence Farm $50,000 $0.252
Scouts Canada 1st Lake Cowichan $1,000 $0.005
Shawnigan Lake Historical Society $10,000 $0.050
South Cowichan Volleyball Club $5,636 $0.028
VIU Foundation $5,000 $0.025

$407,436 $2.054

Attachment C



BC Marble International Sculpture 
Association 

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050 



 
 REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION  
 
 
Organization Information:  
Name of Organization: BC Marble International Sculpture Association  
Mailing Address: Box 166, Chemainus BC                       Postal Code: V0R 1K0  
Name of Contact Person: Tom Smith  
Telephone No.(250) 324-3021                      email: tom.bcmarbleproducts@shaw.ca  
 
 
Project/Initiative Scope:  
Projects and initiatives submitted for grant-in-aid consideration must be regional in scope (benefits 
between six and nine electoral areas and two and four municipalities).  

Which category is this project, event or service? *(see page 3) Arts/ Culture  
Which electoral areas and municipalities will this project, event or service provide benefit to?  
 
This project will provide benefit to all electoral districts and municipalities in the Cowichan region, 
as the association will host events and workshops throughout the region in the lead up to its 
month-long festival and symposium.  The festival will be hosted at the Cowichan Exhibition 
Centre and members of the public will be encouraged to attend sculpture viewings and 
workshops during the month-long residency at the site. It is estimated that 12 local, regional and 
international artists will participate in the residency at the Cowichan Exhibition grounds, and 
additional regional artists will take place in community-based events.  
 
Description of project, event or service: To host an annual stone sculpting festival to market the 
region with cooperation from the CVRD Parks and Recreation and Arts and Cultural staff  
_________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Start Date: August 11th, 2018_______________ End Date: September 9th, 2018  
 
Is this project, event or service part of your core operations? The project is a core function of the 
association.  
Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization?  
No____ 
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Who will benefit from the project, event or service? 
 
 1.) Professional and emerging artists in the region who take part in the planning, implementation 
and international networking.  2.) Arts students in the region 3.)All Cowichan residents who 
participate in enjoying this place making event 4.) Businesses will benefit from a festival that 
attracts visitors to the area and provides an important addition to our cultural tourism 5.) Visitors 
to the Cowichan Exhibition 150th will be given the opportunity to learn about the medium of stone 
sculpture from local Vancouver Island marble and take part in family-centred events. 6.) The First 
Nations community and members will benefit by direct participation in the festival as artists and 
through opportunities to host and auxiliary events (ie.opening and closing ceremonies)    
 
What will those benefits be? Included in above  
 
What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? An opportunity which has 
been in development for more than two years with local artists, residents and businesses will not 
be realized. An effort is being made to use any resources provided by the CVRD to leverage 
additional provincial, private sector and individual support   
 
Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the 
community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism:  
 
This project is centered on building innovative partnerships between local businesses, regional 
and international artists and local community residents. Implementation of the festival will require 
the support of more than 50 volunteers drawn from throughout the region.  
__________________________________________________________________________________  
Budget Information:  
 
Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for events/services.  
Total cost of the Project, Event or Service: $ 150,000.00  
Grant in Aid applied for: $ 10,000.00  
Will you receive other sources of funding? Yes 
 
Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected:  
Amount: $100,000.00           Source: Corporate Sponsorships 
Amount:   $40,000.00         Source: Other government fundraising, private donations  
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Please describe cost reduction strategies employed:  
 
Absorbing as a volunteer organization, all administration costs and supplementing the cost of 
tools and equipment through in-kind support.  
 
  
 
Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions:  
50 volunteers, 20 hours each = 1,000 hours at a value of $15.00 per hour = $15,000.00 
 
Have you included your organization’s current annual budget and most recent financial statements?  
Yes_______________ No______*No__________ As a recently formed organization, we do not have 
recent financial statements, however, in the process of submitting a post-event report, we will 
also submit an annual report and financial statements 
 
 
Reporting Requirements  
 
If your organization is successful you will be required to submit a report which includes annual financial 
statements and a description of how the grant funding was spent and outcomes that were achieved by 
February 28 of the year following receipt of the funds.  

 
Category:  
Social – projects that support the health, well-being and diversity of individuals and communities  
Environmental – projects that enhance or protect, enhance or restore environmental values  
Sport/Recreation – projects related to the provision of sports or recreation activities, tournaments or 
events  
Arts/Culture – projects that enhance the provision and availability of arts and culture services and 
amenities  
Heritage – projects that protect and interpret the region’s heritage values  
Economic Development – projects related to creating or enhancing economic opportunities  
 
Email will be used if additional information is required.  
 

 

Note: All applications must be received by the Regional District on or before January 31, 2018 to be considered for a 2018 grant. Please 
attach any additional documentation supporting your Project, Event or Service. 



BC Forrest Discovery Centre 

Amount Requested:  $18,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .091 

























Clements Centre Society

Amount Requested:  $50,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .252 

























































Cobble Hill United Merchants Society

Amount Requested:  $20,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .101 



 
 
 
 
 

 
REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION 

 
Organization Information:  
 
Name of Organization: COBBLE HILL UNITED MERCHANTS SOCIETY (CHUMS) 
 
Mailing Address: PO BOX 196, COBBLE HILL, BC, V0R 1L0 
 
Name of Contact Person: ANITA WILLIS, CHUMS SECRETARY 
 
Telephone No. 250-929-5565 or 250-743-6607 email: twohootsgallery@gmail.com 
 
Project/Initiative Scope:  
 
Which category is this project, event or service? Economic Development 
 
Which electoral areas will this project, event or service provide benefit to?  
X Area C – Cobble Hill  
 
Description of project, event or service:  
The Cobble Hill United Merchants Society (CHUMS) requests $20,000 in financial aid to support the following 
projects and services: 
 
1) $10,000 seed money toward the estimated $35,000 cost of hiring Cobble Hill woodworking and engineering 
contractors to construct and install a “Welcome to Cobble Hill” timber-frame sign for the community at the 
Fisher Road intersection with Hwy 1. A local landowner and businessman has offered to host the sign on his 
commercial property. The remaining $25,000 would be raised through local CHUMS fundraising initiatives, 
business contributions, etc. 
 
2) $5,000 to hire a Cobble Hill graphic designer to create a logo/branding package for Cobble Hill village 
(including graphics for print media, website and social media, and a design for the proposed village welcome 
sign) and to create and launch a Cobble Hill village website. The website would host a directory of Cobble Hill 
businesses (including home-based businesses, local artists, commercial and industrial businesses, non-profit 
agencies), and would provide a central place for community information and events to be posted (currently 
much lacking outside of Facebook), for commercial lease opportunities to be shared, and more. Any portion of 
this $5,000 not needed for branding and website development would be put toward the welcome sign project. 
 
3). $5,000 to enhance pedestrian safety in the village core by filling and leveling the gravel verges of the 
village roads. Currently deep gutters and potholes along roadways fill with water during the rainy season, 
creating significant hazard to pedestrians and limiting movement by foot around the village. MoT 
representatives at the 2017 Cobble Hill design charrette indicated they would support our proposed gravelling 
and grading project so long as road drainage is not compromised and with the understanding that MoT would 
not be responsible for upkeep of the gravel verges. Volunteer labour would be used to distribute the gravel, 
and local companies would be engaged to provide the gravel, project management, and the professional 
required to operate the truck and grader. Any funds remaining would be put toward the welcome sign project. 
 
Start Date: March 1, 2018   End Date (for #2 and #3): Dec. 31, 2018 
 
Is this project, event or service part of your core operations? Yes  
 
Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization?  No 

mailto:twohootsgallery@gmail.com
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Who will benefit from the project, event or service? The residents and business community of Cobble Hill 
 
What will those benefits be?  

• A safer, more walkable community for residents and visitors 
• Immediate implementation of some aspects of the Cobble Hill Design Toolkit that arose from the 2017 

design charrette, underscoring the value of this process and establishing momentum to continue 
volunteer work to achieve recommendations in the document 

• Enhanced community pride, communication, engagement in local events and business offerings   
• Economic development through greater awareness, both online and through visual signage, of Cobble 

Hill as a vibrant business community and desirable location for investment/development 
• Stimulate local economy by diverting increasing numbers of highway travellers into the merchant core 

of Cobble Hill village, encouraging growth of local business and increased local employment 
• Build commercial tax base by increasing the number and size of local businesses 

 
What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project?  

• Potential for injury to residents and visitors on foot 
• Inability of the elderly to safely walk around their village, leading to inability to age in place 
• Continued struggle for local merchants to grow their businesses and provide local employment, to 

serve the Cobble Hill community with services the growing numbers of residents need and want, and 
contained lack of growing commercial tax base to support other desired services for the growing 
community 

 
Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the 
community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism:  
 

• The three proposed projects and services will be implemented using the skills of local business people 
and volunteers. Cobble Hill is unusually blessed with skilled building engineers and woodworking 
experts needed for the signage project. 

 
• The seed money for the proposed highway welcome sign will be used as a focal point to rally the 

community in fundraising and volunteer efforts to achieve a tangible visible goal, a literal landmark that 
identifies Cobble Hill village as a thriving community worth visiting. Creating visual branding for the 
community online and with a physical highway sign will “put Cobble Hill on the map,” as it were. 

 
• With many newcomers moving to the Cobble Hill district, one central website providing information on 

local businesses, community groups, non-profit agencies, volunteer opportunities, etc. is greatly 
needed. At present, a myriad of unconnected groups provide a patchwork of information pages on 
Facebook, and the lack of a central information hub leads to considerable confusion and inability to 
disseminate timely and  important community information. 

 
• Volunteers will be mobilized to assist with the roadside gravelling and grading project, reducing costs 

and inviting community engagement in working to resolve a problem all residents recognize. 
 
 
Budget Information:  
Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for events/services.  
 
Total cost of the Project, Event or Service: $45,000 
$35,000 for creation and installation of highway welcome sign 
$5,000 for graphic design/branding and website creation 
$5,000 for village roadside gravel fill and grading 
 
Grant in Aid applied for: $20,000  
 
Will you receive other sources of funding?  No 
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Please describe cost reduction strategies employed 
 

• Community volunteers will provide required general labour for roadside gravel distribution 
• Local businesses, as community members who will benefit from all projects and services, will provide 

their skilled services at minimum costs possible  
• A local landowner and business man will provide a site for the highway welcome sign at no cost  
• The proposed Cobble Hill village website will be populated with written content created by and 

maintained by CHUMS volunteers (including professional editorial oversight from a former magazine 
editor); only the technical design of the site, visual branding materials (lprofessionally designed logo) 
and cost of Internet hosting will be hired out 

  
Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions:  
See above. 
 
Have you included your organization’s current annual budget and most recent financial statements?  
No. The organization’s first annual financial statements will be prepared in conjunction with the organization’s 
Annual General Meeting, which will be held in the summer of 2018. The organization’s current financial assets 
are detailed in the financial attachment.  
 
Reporting Requirements  
If your organization is successful you will be required to submit a report which includes annual financial 
statements and a description of how the grant funding was spent and outcomes that were achieved by 
February 28 of the year following receipt of the funds.  
 
Category:  
Social – projects that support the health, well-being and diversity of individuals and communities  
Environmental – projects that enhance or protect, enhance or restore environmental values  
Sport/Recreation – projects related to the provision of sports or recreation activities, tournaments or events  
Arts/Culture – projects that enhance the provision and availability of arts and culture services and amenities  
Heritage – projects that protect and interpret the region’s heritage values  
Economic Development – projects related to creating or enhancing economic opportunities  
Email will be used if additional information is required.  
 
Note: All applications must be received by the Regional District on or before January 31, 2018 to be 
considered for a 2018 grant. Please attach any additional documentation supporting your Project, Event or 
Service. 
 
ATTACHED DOCUMENTS: 
 

• CHUMS FAQ document 
• CHUMS financial statement 



Cobble	Hill	United	Merchants	Society	

CHUMS	
FAQ 
 
What is CHUMS? 
Early in 2017, a group of Cobble Hill business owners began meeting to see how they might work 
together to support each other and the community we serve. In July 2017, the group registered the 
Cobble Hill United Merchants Society (CHUMS) as an official B.C. society. 
 
What is the mandate of CHUMS? 
The society’s two stated purposes are: 

• To build connections among Cobble Hill business owners, residents, and like-minded 
local and regional organizations to broaden local and regional awareness of Cobble Hill as 
a vibrant and welcoming community in which to live, work, and play. 

• To foster initiatives and events to enhance the beauty, heritage, livability, and social 
connectivity of Cobble Hill. 

 
Who is on the board of CHUMS? 
The following business owners have volunteered to serve on the first CHUMS board: 
 
President:   Phil Newns, Minstrels Music School 
Vice-President:  Nick Yaremchuk, Island Computers 
Treasurer:   Kim Newns, Paint Nite 
Secretary:   Anita Willis, Two Hoots Gift Gallery 
Director-at-Large:  Dave Kral, Cobblestone Pub 
Director-at-Large:  Candice Johnsson, Union 22 Antique and Vintage 
Director-at-Large:  Susan Dumas-Ryan, The Second Hanger 
 
Who can join? 
Membership in CHUMS is open to businesses, organizations, and individuals both within and 
outside of the boundaries of Cobble Hill Regional District. Anyone who supports the society’s 
stated purposes, above, is welcome, including business people and organizations from 
neighbouring South Cowichan communities who see a benefit in networking with the business 
people of Cobble Hill. 
 
What are the benefits of a $10 annual membership in CHUMS?  
* Network with local business owners at fun "Meet and Greet" evenings.  
* Join CHUMS group marketing initiatives to get more for your ad dollars. 
* Participate in CHUMS community-building events and initiatives. 
* Get listed in CHUMS’ growing member directory and a future CHUMS website. 
* Lobby for village improvements (like a "Visit Cobble Hill Village" sign on the highway) as a 
collective group of business owners. 
* Stay “in-the-loop” with newsy updates about changes, improvements, etc. in the Cobble Hill 
business community. 
* Get CHUMS member discounts at participating local businesses. 



COBBLE HILL UNITED MERCHANTS ASSOCIATION 
Statement of Accounts as of November 29,2017 

Revenues 2017
Membership Fees 310
Fundraising Activities 150
In-Kind Support (Administrative, Meeting Rooms) 2,000
Total: 2,460.00$  

Expenditures 2017
Networking Events 153
Society Registration, Banking Fees 165
Meeting and Administrative Activities 2000

2,318.00$  

Balance 142.00$     



Cobble Hill Events Society

Amount Requested:  $3,500. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .018 





















Cowichan Beekeepers Society

Amount Requested:  $1,500. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .008 











Cowichan Historical Society

Amount Requested:  $5,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .025 









































Cowichan Housing Association

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050 
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January 31, 2018 
 
Board of Directors 
Cowichan Valley Regional District 
175 Ingram Street 
Duncan BC V9L 1N8 
 
Dear Members of the Board, 
 
Re: Request for Grant in Aid – Attainable Housing in the Cowichan Region 
 
Cowichan Housing Association (CHA) has worked over the past year to build capacity and collaboration toward 
addressing the issue of lack of affordable housing in the Cowichan Region.  
 
During 2018, we will be working on a number of fronts to identify opportunities and partnerships for affordable 
housing and to leverage resources on behalf of the community. As part of our efforts, we will be developing an 
Attainable Housing Strategy and Action Plan.  
 
We are writing to request financial assistance in the amount of $10,000 toward our overall cost of $97,500 for 
this project. Appendix A provides a project outline and budget.  
 
Need for an Attainable Housing Strategy and Action Plan 
 
The Cowichan Region is experiencing a lack of supply and variable conditions of affordable and supported 
rental units. Further, evidence suggests that home ownership is not attainable for many working people. As 
house prices rise, fewer young households and households with low to moderate incomes are able to purchase 
a home. This lack of housing impacts employee recruitment and retention and has broader economic 
development implications.  
 
In 2011, 8,325 or 25% of CVRD households did not meet one or more standards for housing adequacy, 
suitability or affordability. This number represents an increase of over 100 households since 2006. 
 
The BC Non Profit Housing Association has estimated the number of rental units needed to address the current 
deficit at 750, and that an additional 1,000+ units will be needed by 2021. 
 
These statistics convey an urgent need for development of affordable rental and ownership housing in the 
Region. However, they do not tell us about the type or location of the need. As well, census data has just been 
updated in 2016 and these numbers may have changed.  
 
Appendix B lists several studies that have been undertaken with regard to affordable housing needs and 
strategies including a 2010 CVRD Affordable Housing Strategy (Regional Affordable Housing Directorate (RHAD) 
and a 2014 Regional Affordable Housing Needs Assessment (CVRD).  
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The 2010 report put forward eight strategies relating to policy development, partnerships, awareness raising, 
preventing loss of existing stock, advocating to other levels of government, monitoring funding practices and 
working with First Nations governments.  
 
The 2014 Cowichan Regional Affordable Housing Needs Assessment characterized a range of housing needs for 
both affordable home ownership and affordable rentals. Challenges noted include: 
 

• Choice for students, youth, low-income families and individuals, and those on fixed incomes  
• Homeless individuals in Duncan  
• Maintenance and upgrades of older rental housing stock  
• Existing and emerging core housing needs for homeowners and renters 
• Seniors living in rural areas are challenged to find ways to age-in-place.  

 
The report outlined a series of next steps including facilitating housing needs discussions, forming regional 
policies within the Regional Sustainability Strategy and looking for opportunities to facilitate development of 
affordable housing.  
 
The benefits of a CVRD Attainable Housing Strategy and Action Plan will be to:  
 

• Assess progress made on the 2010 Strategy and 2014 Needs Assessment 
• Provide current statistical data to measure changes and provide a new baseline 
• Revisit previous and develop new strategies and an action plan that reflects the current situation in the 

Region.  
• Further, this Strategy would identify in more detail than previous studies, ownership and rental 

housing needs in communities around the region, and develop strategies, concrete actions and an 
implementation plan that will support decisions for housing priorities. CHA will monitor and follow up 
on progress each year.  

• Position Cowichan for potential upcoming funding opportunities. 
 
This project would be undertaken during 2018 for completion by January 2019.  
 
Thank you in advance for your consideration of our request. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Terri Mattin Dame 
Executive Director, Cowichan Housing Association 
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APPENDIX A: PROJECT PLAN AND BUDGET 
 
The aim of the project is to develop a CVRD Attainable Housing Strategy and Action Plan, the objectives of 
which will be to: 
 

1. Provide current demographics and housing statistics and analysis of the region including municipalities 
and electoral areas 

2. Provide current inventory and analysis of government and non-government funding opportunities 
3. Engage citizens and local governments (staff and elected officials) from around the region to provide 

input into the Strategy and to explore potential partnerships for moving forward 
4. Establish a five-year action plan for addressing Attainable Housing in the Cowichan Region. 

 
This project will work in partnership with Social Planning Cowichan and Our Cowichan Health Network to plan 
and conduct community consultations in tandem with consultations around Health and Poverty matters. These 
organizations will also be part of the Project Steering Committee. The project will liaise with and engage 
members of the Cowichan Coalition to Address Homelessness and Affordable Housing, as well as members of 
the Development Community. 
  
PROJECT WORK PLAN 
 
Timeframe Activities 
March 1 – 31, 2018 Project Mobilization: Engage Consultant, develop project Steering Committee, 

develop Communications and Engagement Plan and materials. 
April 1 – June 30, 
2018 

Prepare research and analysis background report.  
Prepare research and data analysis background report.  
Conduct presentations to local governments and key agencies in the Region to provide 
information and gather preliminary feedback and advice. 
Conduct 3-6 Community Consultations in areas around the region. 
Prepare progress report and analysis. 

July 1 – September 
30, 2018 

Conduct 2-3 Community Consultations in areas around the region. 
Prepare progress report and analysis. 

October 1 – 
December 31, 2018 

Conduct 3-6 Community Consultations in areas around the region. 
Prepare draft comprehensive report. 
Circulate the report to relevant agencies, organizations for feedback. 
 

January 1 – 31, 2018 Prepare final report for distribution; conduct presentations to local governments and 
key agencies in the Region. 
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PROJECT BUDGET 
 
Item Details Budget 
  Total Budget CVRD CHA In Kind* 

Personnel 

CHA Project Management 
Wages: 10 months @ 20 
hours/month 
 

34,000  34,000  

 Partnership In kind Personnel  
 10,000   10,000 

Contracted 
Personnel 

Strategy Consultant fee 
(includes travel) 25,000 10,000 15,000  

Materials / 
Supplies 

Printed Materials, Facilitation 
needs, Office Supplies 2,500  2,500  

Travel Staff mileage @$.50/km – 9-
13 consultation sessions 1,000  1,000  

Facilities / 
Refreshments 

9 – 13 Public Consultation 
Sessions 15,000  5,000 10,000 

Overhead/ 
Administration 

Rent, utilities, telephones, 
computer equipment, 
Administrative support (10 
months x $1,000) 

10,000  10,000  

      
TOTAL  $97,500 $10,000 $67,500 $20,000 
 
 
*In kind support for Public Consultations will be provided by Social Planning Cowichan and Our Cowichan Communities 
Health Network, valued at $10,000 each.
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APPENDIX B: BACKGROUND 
 
Affordable Housing and Homelessness  
 
The issue of affordable housing has been of concern in the Cowichan region for the past decade or more. 
Several reports have outlined issues and needs including: 
 

1. SPC/RAHD (2007) Inadequate Shelter in the Cowichan Valley 
2. SPC/RAHD (2010) Cowichan Region Affordable Housing Strategy 
3. SPC/RAHD (2010) Affordable Housing in the Cowichan Valley, A Discussion Paper 
4. RAHD/SPC (2014) Aboriginal Off-Reserve Housing Needs in the Cowichan Region 
5. RAHD/SPC (2014) Cowichan Region Homelessness Report 
6. CVRD (2013) Cobble Hill Age-Friendly Community Report 
7. CVRD (2014) Regional Affordable Housing Needs Assessment 
8. CVRD (2014) Housing Indicators Report 
9. CVRD (2017) Mill Bay Age-Friendly community Report 
10. BC Non Profit Housing Association (2012) Our Home, Our Future: Projections of Rental 

Housing Demand and Core Housing Need – Cowichan Valley Regional District to 2036 
11. Cowichan Housing Association (2016) Youth Homelessness and Housing Challenges 

Community Meetings 
12. Emmanuel, Joy (2017) Duncan Winter and Summer Point in Time Homeless Counts 
13. Cowichan Housing Association (2017) Affordable Housing Snapshot 
14. Cowichan Housing Association (2017) Rental Housing Snapshot 
15. Cowichan Housing Association (2017) Cost of Homelessness 

 
In 2015, the Regional Affordable Housing Directorate developed a Business Case for a Cowichan Valley Regional 
Affordable Housing Trust Fund which outlined the implications of establishing a Housing Trust Fund, essentially 
a way to assist non-profit housing providers with capital costs related to new affordable housing projects, or 
renovations to existing affordable housing.  
 
In addition to local studies that have highlighted issues of homelessness and affordable housing, these issues 
have been discussed at numerous community tables including the Tze Tza Community Advisory Board, CVRD 
Community Safety Advisory Commission, Cowichan Harm Reduction Roundtable, Our Cowichan Communities 
Health Network, Social Planning Cowichan, the Cowichan Safe Needle Disposal Committee, the Mental Health 
and Substance Use Collective Impact table, and Safer Pregnancies Collaborative. 
 
Key challenges in the region include: increasing costs to own, increasing demand and cost for rental housing, 
declining rental supply plus adequacy issues, and increasing homelessness. 
 

• In 2011, 8,325 or 25% of CVRD households did not meet one or more standards for 
housing adequacy, suitability or affordability. This number represents an increase of over 100 
households since 2006. 

• The 2014 Cowichan Regional Affordable Housing Needs Assessment characterized a range of housing 
needs for both affordable home ownership and affordable rentals. 

• 1 in 5 families in the CVRD are renter households. 
• In 2011, 3,195 (1 in 2) Renter households in the CVRD were spending more than 30% of their income 



 

  6 
  

 

on housing. 
• The 2017 Point in Time Counts indicate an increase of approximately 26% of absolutely homeless 

people in the Cowichan Region since 2014. 
 
Costs Associated with Homelessness and Lack of Affordable Housing 
 
Homelessness and inadequate housing are correlated with increased incidence of illness and injury, and 
incarceration. The annual economic costs of responding to homelessness in Canada through emergency 
responses such as shelters, policing, and emergency medical services is estimated to be as high as $7.05 billion, 
annually.  
 
Current Programming and Initiatives 
 
There are many organizations in the region providing a wide range of services to support the well being of 
individuals. A number of organizations provide homelessness supports and shelter services, including  
the local branch of the Canadian Mental Health Association that operates Warmland Shelter (30 plus 10 
extreme weather beds). Ladysmith Resource Centre operates 5-10 emergency shelter beds. CMHA also 
operates scattered site housing and Tenant Support, as well as a Sobering and Detox program. Cowichan 
Women Against Violence Society Transition House operates 10 shelter beds for women and children. A 
comprehensive inventory of existing community resources is being prepared through the Regional Community 
Plan process. 
 
The Cowichan Region has nineteen Non Profit Housing buildings, with approximately 540 units (110 of which 
are for First Nations families living off-reserve). As at March 2017 there were 154 individuals on wait lists. 
 
The Cowichan Region currently has insufficient supply of housing that is affordable for many people. Statistics 
indicate 750 renter households in the region are currently in need of a new unit, and rental housing demand in 
Cowichan Valley is projected to increase by 30% to 34% over the next 25 years. Within five years alone, we will 
need an additional 1092 units to accommodate the need.  
 
Currently, federal and provincial levels of government are funding housing projects and services to address 
homelessness in our region. These include: 
 

• Homeless Partnering Strategy Aboriginal Funding (United Way Community Entity) is investing over 
$150,000 annually into Aboriginal Homelessness in Duncan. The Tze Tza Watul Community Advisory 
Board supports investment decisions and currently, HPS is funding a youth outreach program and a 
breakfast program at Hiiye’yu Lelum - House of Friendship. HPS is also currently funding a regional 
Community Plan to Address Homelessness and Affordable Housing, and funded the 2 Point-in-Time 
counts that took place in 2017. HPS is also supporting the Extreme Weather Shelter for women. 

• The Homeless Partnering Strategy Innovative Solutions Program is currently funding CHA to work with 
the Mental Health and Substance Use Collective Impact Team in the development of a Youth Housing 
First initiative including a comprehensive Needs Assessment, Housing First Plan and Housing Plan. 

• Homelessness Partnering Strategy Rural and Remote Funding through CHA supports Tenant and 
Landlord education, information and referrals and Emergency Housing Assistance. 
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Investing in Affordable Housing Solutions 
 
The current situation with regard to homelessness and affordable housing in the Cowichan Region mirrors that 
of many communities across Canada and in depth research into evidence and Best Practices has been done to 
provide a foundation for action. Responses and solutions that have been successful in other communities 
indicate the importance of taking a Housing First approach, increasing affordable housing stock, and creating 
partnerships at local, provincial and federal levels to garner resources and the necessary collaboration to 
address the complexities of the problem.  
 

• The BC Housing (2016) Social Return on Investment report noted that for every dollar invested in 
supporting affordable housing, between two and three dollars in direct social and economic value is 
created for individuals, governments, and communities. 

 
National and Provincial Context 
 
Recently, senior levels of government have resumed engagement with housing matters. The federal 
government, in its 2017 budget, announced $11.2 billion over 11 years allocated for the implementation of an 
inclusive National Housing Strategy.  
 
The new National Housing Strategy was released in November 2017 lays out a framework of investments that 
will be implemented in partnership with local and provincial levels of government.  
 
• The National Housing Strategy is a 10-year, $40-billion plan with the goal of a 50% reduction in chronic 

homelessness, 100,000 units of new housing and 300,000 units repaired or renewed. 
• It will include a National Housing Co-Investment Fund that will provide $15.9 billion – including $4.7 billion 

in contributions and $11.2 billion in low interest loans – to repair existing rental housing and develop new 
affordable housing. The Fund is expected to create up to 60,000 new homes and repair up to 240,000 
existing community homes. 

• The federal government will invite provinces and territories to partner on a jointly funded $4-billion 
Canada Housing Benefit. To be launched in 2020, the Canada Housing Benefit will provide affordability 
support directly to families and individuals in housing need, including those currently living in social 
housing, those on a social housing wait-list and those housed in the private market but struggling to make 
ends meet. 

 
At the Provincial level the mandate letter for the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing indicates the 
intention that through partnerships with local governments, the federal government, and the private and not-
for- profit sectors, the Province will begin to build 114,000 units of affordable market rental, non-profit, co-op, 
supported social housing and owner-purchase housing. In both the provincial and federal cases, there is an 
expectation that matching funds will be raised by the community.  
 
With the return of senior levels of government to the funding table for affordable housing, there are 
opportunities for the CVRD to assist non-profit organizations and others in addressing the issues.  
 
 



Cowichan Housing Association Operations and Projects Budget  
April 1 2017 to March 31 2018 

ITEM  OPS  HPS 
Project 

ESDC/HF 
Project 

TOTAL 
BUDGET  

PERSONNEL April 2017 - 
Mar 2018 

May 2017-
Mar 2018 

(11 
months) 

June 1 2017 
- Mar 31 

2018 
  

Wages - ED  34,892.00     34,892.00 

Program Coordinator  13,000.00     13,000.00 

HPS Wages 360 21,600.00   21,960.00 

HPS Wages   24,960.00     

ESDC Project Wages      51,187.50   

ESDC Project Wages     35,789.82   

Sub Total 48,252.00 46,560.00 86,977.32 181,789.32 
Mercs and Vacation 5,964.91 5,773.44 10,785.18 22,523.53 
Benefits  450.00 282.00   732.00 

TOTAL WAGES 54,666.91 52,615.44 97,762.50 205,044.85 

PROFESSIONAL FEES         

Honoraria 1,000.00     1,000.00 

ESDC     3,000.00 3,000.00 

ESDC     2,083.33 2,083.33 

ESDC     8,333.33 8,333.33 

HF Training     3,000.00 3,000.00 

HPS   700.00   700.00 

HPS   200.00   200.00 

DB 5,000.00     5,000.00 

DB 7,500.00     7,500.00 

DB 5,000.00     5,000.00 

PROGRAM         

Advertising     125.00 125.00 

Conferences hosting     2,500.00   

Emergency Assistance Housing   3,000.00   3,000.00 

Hospitality     2,500.00 2,500.00 

Meeting Expenses 800.00     800.00 
Materials, Office Supplies, 
Postage 150.00 100.00 500.00 750.00 

Materials and Supplies R2R   3,800.00   3,800.00 

Materials Project         

Materials Project         



Materials Project         

Printing/Photocopying 300.00 585.00 942.83 1,827.83 

Travel    400.00   400.00 

Travel 250.00     250.00 

Travel 600.00   1,750.00 2,350.00 

Travel   200.00   200.00 

Telephone Project Staff     500.00 500.00 

Transition/wind	down	     500.00 500.00 

GST	     1,000.00 1,000.00 

PROFESSIONAL DEVEL         

Conferences	fees	 600.00   500.00 1,100.00 

Conf	fees	 120.00     120.00 

ADMINISTRATION         

Accounting, year end 2,500.00 1,200.00   3,700.00 

Bank 50.00     50.00 

Furniture 300.00   700.00 1,000.00 

Fees/Dues 150.00     150.00 

Information Technology 150.00   500.00 650.00 

IT     2,400.00   

IT 2,000.00     2,000.00 

IT 1,250.00   500.00 1,750.00 

Rent,lease, repairs 4,975.00 2,200.00 2,500.00 9,675.00 

TOTAL 87,361.91 65,000.44 131,597.00 283,959.35 

	













Cowichan Green Community

Amount Requested:  $40,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .202 























Cowichan Intercultural Society

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050 











































Cowichan Valley Naturalists' Society

Amount Requested:  $7,500. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .038 





















Duncan Cowichan Chamber of 
Commerce

Amount Requested:  $1,800. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .009 















Handmade Hugs Society

Amount Requested:  $1,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .005 



















Hiiye'yu Leleum (House of Friendship) 
Society

Amount Requested:  $50,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .252 

























Inclusive Leadership 

Co-operative

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050 



3291 Renita Ridge Road, Duncan, BC, V9L 5J6 

Phone: 250-746-6141 Fax: 250-597-2228

Email: inclusiveleaders@gmail.com

Website: www.inclusiveleadershipco-op.org

January 12, 2018

REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION TO THE CVRD

Name of Organization: Inclusive Leadership Co-operative

Mailing Address: 3291 Renita Ridge Road, Duncan, BC Postal Code: V9L 5J6

Name of Contact Person: Linda Hill 

Telephone No: 250-746-6141 Fax No: 250-597-2228

Website: www.inclusiveleadershipco-op.org Email: inclusiveleaders@gmail.com

Incorporation number: CP-2177

Amount requested: $10,000

Project/Initiative Scope: 
Yes this project is regional in scope and potentially benefits all electoral areas of municipalities. 

Which category is this project, event or service? 
Social – projects that support the health, well-being and diversity of individuals and communities 

Which electoral areas and municipalities will this project, event or service provide benefit to?
• All areas: Areas A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I
• City of Duncan 
• District of North Cowichan
• Town of Ladysmith
• Town of Lake Cowichan

Description of project, event or service:

We acknowledge with great respect and thankfulness that all our services take place within the 
traditional territory of Cowichan Tribes, Malahat First Nation, Lake Cowichan Nation, Halalt and other
Coast Salish Nations.
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The overall purpose of the Inclusive Leadership Co-operative (ILC) is to engage adults and youth from 
throughout the Cowichan Region in developing skills, awareness and action plans for living, learning 
and leading more inclusively in our diverse communities. We provide experiential Inclusive Leadership
Education that brings our locally developed Inclusive Leadership protocol for preventing and for 
responding to discrimination, violence and all forms of exclusion to life in our schools, workplaces, and
community organizations. (See Appendix 1: Inclusive Leadership Protocol). 

Our global goal is for our region to become known internationally as a warm and welcoming region 
full of Inclusive Leaders who intentionally practice skills for connecting with differences, 
communicating with compassion, Building Bridges of equality, and skills for responding to situations 
of discrimination with Anti-Discrimination First Aid. 

During 2018, we are focusing our work on addressing the recent escalation of organized youth-against-
youth violence. We are addressing this preventatively and responsively by engaging as many youth 
throughout our region as possible in developing Inclusive Leadership skills, awareness and action 
plans. Just as children and youth require continuous education and practice to be able to develop their 
abilities in academics and sports, our children and youth also require continuous education and practice
to be able to develop their abilities in social responsibility. 
We will accomplish this focus through:

• workshops in schools, community organizations and workplaces throughout the Cowichan 
Region.

• Inclusive Leadership online education
• two weekend Inclusive Leadership Adventures at Cowichan Lake Education Centre (Fall 2018 

and Spring 2019). 

Start Date and End Date:
The start date for applying this third Grant in Aid will be April 30, 2018. The end date will be March 
31, 2019. 

Is this project, event or service part of your core operations? 
Yes – our mission is to bring youth and adults from diverse backgrounds together to nurture and mentor
Inclusive Leadership development in ourselves, our communities and our world. 

Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization? 
Yes

The Cowichan Region is fortunate to be made up of many groups and organizations engaged in various
aspects of socially and environmentally responsible leadership. However, the Inclusive Leadership Co-
operative makes a unique and important contribution to these efforts through our focus on engaging 
youth and adults from government, schools and the non-profit sector in sharing leadership in living, 
learning and leading in more inclusive and welcoming ways. 

For example, our upcoming Inclusive Leadership Adventure being organized for February 23 to 25, 
2018 has filled very quickly with inter-generational teams of youth and adults from: School District 79,
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Cowichan Intercultural Society, Safe Youth Cowichan and several informal family teams.  By bringing 
these diverse groups together we will develop and implement positive and possible action plans for 
welcoming and inclusive events, projects, programs, organizations and communities. 

Who will benefit from the project, event or service? 
Each year, the services provided by the Inclusive Leadership Co-operative directly benefit hundreds of 
adults, youth and children in the Cowichan Region and beyond. We expect he following numbers of 
people and types of groups to benefit from our services from April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018. This is 
based on the services we provided from January 2017 to December, 2017:

Over 1500 individuals, families and organizations (including 1100 from the Cowichan Regional 
District and 400 from other parts of Vancouver Island, other parts of BC, other provinces and countries)
will: 

 learn about and apply the Cowichan Region's locally developed Inclusive Leadership protocol 
for building welcoming and inclusive communities free of bullying, racism and other forms of 
discrimination, isolation and other forms of exclusion.

 develop Inclusive Leadership skills and awareness for connecting with differences, 
communicating with compassion, standing up for diversity and inclusion, and Building Bridges 
across differences.  

 develop and implement positive and possible action plans for welcoming and inclusive events, 
projects, programs, organizations and communities. 

What Will Those Benefits Be?

These benefits are summarized below according to our main activities. 

a) Workshops: Over 1000 children, youth and adults from at least 35 non-profit societies, 
schools, government, community groups and other organizations will participate in Inclusive 
Leadership Workshops. We will host workshops in partnership with at least five organizations 
including: Cowichan Intercultural Society, Clements Centre Society, School District 79, 
Cowichan Lake Education Centre, and Safe Youth Cowichan (Social Planning Cowichan). 

b) Inclusive Leadership Weekends: We will welcome over 125 people from at least 15 
organizations at at least two weekend events: Inclusive Leadership Gathering Fall 2018, 
Inclusive Leadership Adventure Winter 2019. 

c) Mentoring and Consulting: The ILC will provide mentoring and consulting to at least 5 
organizations in the Cowichan Region including: Cowichan Intercultural Society, School 
District 79, Social Planning Cowichan,  Volunteer Cowichan, and Vancouver Island University).

d) On-line Education: The ILC will welcome at least 40 Inclusive Leaders from the Cowichan 
Region to join at least 100 Inclusive Leaders from other parts of the world in Inclusive 
Leadership Online Courses. 
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e) Pro-Active Community Responses: Members of the Inclusive Leadership Co-operative will 
participate in meetings organized by SD 79, Social Planning, Cowichan Intercultural Society 
and other organizations in the Cowichan Region aimed at engaging youth and adults in building
a more welcoming and inclusive region.

What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project?
Communities that don’t intentionally nurture inclusive, co-operative, healthy relationships between 
community members from diverse backgrounds tend to be communities that are experienced as 
somewhat less safe, less respectful, more unfair, more unkind and more unhappy than communities that
do intentionally nurture health, well-being and diversity. 

We are fortunate to live in a region that places priority on social projects that support the health, well-
being and diversity of individuals and communities. This priority and support from the CVRD has 
made it possible for the work of the Inclusive Leadership Co-operative to spread around the world from
this home-base of our warm and welcoming land. 

Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the 
community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism: 

The Inclusive Leadership Co-operative’s methodologies are based on two decades of Participatory 
Action Research and Best Practices resulting from that research. Our Inclusive Leadership Protocol is 
an innovative gift to our region that has been developed and refined by the participation of thousands of
youth and adults in Inclusive Leadership projects since 2002. Our guiding compass and global 
framework is the international Earth Charter pillars of respect and care for the community of life, 
ecological integrity, social and economic justice, democracy, non-violence and peace. We are part of 
the International Co-operative movement made up of people helping people. Inclusive Leaders take 
action by applying the Building Bridges steps of networking, gathering, building (relationships, 
community, skills, and awareness), action planning and follow up. The Inclusive Leadership Co-
operative facilitates learning through inter-generational, participatory, experiential education for social 
and environmental change.

Budget Information: Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 
for events/services. 

Total cost of the Project, Event or Service: 
Our annual budget is $44,000  
Grant in Aid applied for: $10,000

Will you receive other sources of funding? 
Yes 
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Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected: 

Book Sales:  $500
Workshops and Consulting services: $7000
Fund-raising: $500
Sponsorships: $4000
Participant Fees: $12,000
Online Course Fees: $10,000
Regional Grant in Aid: $10,000

Total Amounts from April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019 $44,000

Please describe cost reduction strategies employed: 
The Inclusive Leadership Co-operative reduces costs through our well researched, cost-effective 
Inclusive Leadership methodology. We follow an annual work-plan developed during a visioning 
meeting held once a year. We have a dedicated Board of Directors. We all work from home and meet 
via telephone conferencing and zoom video-conferencing. We share leadership co-operatively with our 
community partners.  

Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions:

Donation Value of this Donation

Co-ordinating the Inclusive Leadership Co-operative: 
20 hours per week X 50 weeks per year X $25 per hour

$25,000

Book-keeping: 10 hours per month X 12 months per 
year X $25 per hour

$3000

Volunteer co-facilitators and consultants: 2 volunteers 
X 10 hours per workshop or consulting session X 10 
events X $20 per hour

$4000

Volunteer Online Course Mentors: 2 volunteers X 40 
hours per course X 6 courses per year X $20 per hour

$9600

Volunteer Inclusive Travel Guides for weekend 
Inclusive Leadership events: 20 volunteers X 40 hours 
X $20 per hour

$16,000

Venues, refreshments and photocopying provided by 
our community partners hosting workshops.

$1000

Volunteers donating mileage, use of computers, use of 
printers and paper. 50 volunteers X $100 

$5000

TOTAL value of in-kind donations and 
volunteering

$63,600
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Have you included your organization’s current annual budget and most recent financial 
statements? 
Yes

Reporting Requirements:
If your organization is successful you will be required to submit a report which includes annual 
financial statements and a description of how the grant funding was spent and outcomes that were 
achieved by February 28 of the year following receipt of the funds. 
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ASSET

Current Assets

Cash to be deposited 0.00 

Cash Draws 0.00 

Petty Cash 0.00 

Savings Bank Account 0.00 

Chequing Bank Account 16,418.67 

Total Cash 16,418.67 

Visa Receivable 0.00 

Total Credit Card Receivables 0.00 

Investments 0.00 

Accounts Receivable 0.00 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 0.00 

Advances & Loans 0.00 

Total Receivable 0.00 

Prepaid Expenses 0.00 

Total Current Assets 16,418.67 

TOTAL ASSET 16,418.67 

LIABILITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 9,033.20 

Corporate Taxes payable 0.00 

Vacation payable 0.00 

EI Payable 0.00 

CPP Payable 0.00 

Federal Income Tax Payable 0.00 

Total Receiver General 0.00 

WCB Payable 0.00 

Total Current Liabilities 9,033.20 

Long Term Liabilities

Memberships 760.00 

Loans from Shareholders 0.00 

Total Long Term Liabilities 760.00 

TOTAL LIABILITY 9,793.20 

Inclusive Leadership Co-operative

Balance Sheet

March 31, 2017



EQUITY

Retained Earnings

Retained Earnings - Previous Year 5,592.79 

Current Earnings 1,032.68 

Total Retained Earnings 6,625.47 

TOTAL EQUITY 6,625.47 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 16,418.67 

Prepared by Susan Norris

Up and Running Bookkeeping Services

Generated On: 2017-05-22



 

REVENUE

Sales Revenue

CVRD Grant Revenue 3,262.00 

Book Sales 234.40 

Consulting Services 1,400.00 

Fundraising 2,160.00 

Grants 3,450.00 

Sponsorships 1,860.00 

Workshop Services 10,600.75 

Participant Fees 7,502.30 

Video Conference Fees 225.00 

Net Sales 30,694.45 

Other Revenue

Interest Revenue 0.66 

Total Other Revenue 0.66 

TOTAL REVENUE 30,695.11 

EXPENSE

Cost of Services 

Facilitator Fees 350.00 

Leadership Training Courses 1,960.00 

Honorarium Expense 50.00 

Rental Expenses 15,617.70 

Workshop Supplies 1,690.03 

Total Cost of Services 19,667.73 

Payroll Expenses

Wages & Salaries 5,160.43 

WCB Expense 90.48 

Casual Wages 480.00 

Total Payroll Expense 5,730.91 

Inclusive Leadership Co-operative

Income Statement

Apr 1, 2016  - Mar 31, 2017



Inclusive Leadership Co-operative

Income Statement

Apr 1, 2016  - Mar 31, 2017

General & Administrative Expenses

Advertising & Promotions 169.45 

Business Fees & Licenses 50.00 

Insurance 1,100.00 

Interest & Bank Charges 6.00 

Office Supplies 123.22 

Printing & Photocopying 1,516.58 

Postage & Courier 14.93 

Mileage 120.00 

Conference Expenses 473.81 

Travel & Entertainment 597.99 

Travel & Ent:Non-Reimbursable 91.81 

Total General & Admin. Expenses 4,263.79 

TOTAL EXPENSE 29,662.43 

NET INCOME 1,032.68 

Prepared by Susan Norris

UP and Running Bookkeeping Services

Generated On: 2017-05-22



Inclusive Leadership Co-operative

Comparative Income Statement

April 1 - Dec 31, 2017

 

REVENUE

Sales Revenue

CVRD Grant Revenue 10,000.00 10,000.00 

Book Sales 169.44 500.00 

Consulting Services 825.00 3,000.00 

Fundraising 45.00 500.00 

Sponsorships 2,190.00 4,000.00 

Workshop Services 5,608.86 4,000.00 

Participant Fees 6,978.37 12,000.00 

On-Line Course Fees 638.88 10,000.00 

Net Sales 26,455.55 44,000.00 

Other Revenue

Interest Revenue 0.99 0.00 

Total Other Revenue 0.99 0.00 

TOTAL REVENUE 26,456.54 44,000.00 

EXPENSE

Cost of Services Provided

Facilitator Fees 1,200.00 500.00 

On-Line Course Platform 1,674.12 1,200.00 

Consulting Services 0.00 1,000.00 

Rental Expenses 9,258.20 19,000.00 

Workshop Supplies 1.30 1,000.00 

Total Cost of Goods Sold 12,133.62 22,700.00 

Payroll Expenses

Wages & Salaries 7,021.20 8,350.00 

EI Expense 149.03 190.55 

CPP Expense 213.49 413.33 

WCB Expense 0.00 120.00 

Casual Wages 360.00 600.00 

Employee Allowance 0.00 420.00 

Total Payroll Expense 7,743.72 10,093.88 

Actual                                             

2017-04-01 to 2017-12-31

Budget                                 

2017-04-01 to 2018-03-31



General & Administrative Expenses

Business Fees & Licenses 50.00 0.00 

Courier & Postage 16.46 50.00 

Insurance 0.00 1,200.00 

Interest & Bank Charges 36.92 0.00 

Licenses & Subscriptions 458.00 458.00 

Office Supplies 61.15 500.00 

Printing & Photocopying 82.02 1,000.00 

Postage & Courier 0.00 50.00 

PayPal Transaction Fees 113.09 300.00 

Stripe Transaction Fees 6.29 0.00 

Total Credit Card Commissions 119.38 300.00 

Total General & Admin. Expenses 823.93 3,558.00 

TOTAL EXPENSE 20,701.27 36,351.88 

NET INCOME 5,755.27 7,648.12 

Interim Financial Statements

Created by: Susan Norris

01-Jan-17



3291 Renita Ridge Road, Duncan, BC, V9L 5J6 

Phone: 250-746-6141 Fax: 250-597-2228

Email: inclusiveleaders@gmail.com

Website: www.inclusiveleadershipco-op.org

INCLUSIVE LEADERSHIP PROTOCOL 
For Cultivating Inclusive and Welcoming Communities

Take a moment to imagine cycling, walking, driving, or taking a bus through your neighbourhood one 
morning.  Perhaps you are on your way to school, work, or a meeting.  Maybe you are going 
shopping, doing errands, or on your way to to meet a friend at a park or recreation centre. Now 
imagine that, along the way and even after you arrive at your destination, everything is the same as it 
has always been except for one thing. That one change is this. People are no longer reacting to 
differences as problems to fight against, avoid or even solve. Instead, everyone is welcoming 
differences in other people and in nature as gifts to value and treasure. 

This is the vision of the Cowichan Region's locally developed Inclusive Leadership Protocol for 
building welcoming and inclusive communities that are free of racism and other forms of 
discrimination. Thousands of adults, youth and children have been developing Inclusive Leadership 
skills, awareness and action plans since 2005. Much of this on-going Participatory Action research, 
education, and community-development has been hosted by Cowichan Intercultural Society and 
funded by the Government of BC, Organizing Against Racism and Hate (OARH) program. 

The Inclusive Leadership Protocol consists of four sets of Inclusive Leadership skills: 
 Skills for connecting with differences
 Compassionate communication skills
 Anti-discrimination First Aid skills for responding to situations of discrimination
 Skills for Building Bridges within and between groups.

Everyone can help with implementing the Inclusive Leadership Protocol by learning and practising 
these Inclusive Leadership skills for embracing diversity in all living beings as gifts that enrich our 
communities.. The outcome of implementing the Inclusive Leadership protocol is that we are 
transforming our communities in inclusive and welcoming ways.

Skills for Connecting with Differences

1. Relaxing About Differences
The skill of being calm and curious instead of rigid and furious is the key to disarming instinctive 
fight/flight reactions to differences. The way to relax is to consciously and intentionally take long deep 
breaths. You can do this by meditating, laughing, exercising, playing with children, and losing yourself 
in music, art or other creative activities. By relaxing, you are disarming your unthinking instincts to 
react negatively to differences, and you are keeping your parasympathetic nervous system open to 
learning. With a relaxed body and an open-mind, you become receptive to considering new 
information, exploring new ideas, and learning new things about tending and befriending diversity.  
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2. Daring to be Different
Daring to be different means valuing differences as gifts that enrich our communities instead of seeing
differences as problems. Instead of trying to make everyone conform to and fit in with the mainstream 
majority, the skill of daring to be different encourages everyone to stand out and be proud of who we 
each are. This is a courageous skill because standing up for diversity and inclusion challenges the 
dominant world-view that there are certain groups or individuals who are superior to other living 
beings.  You are daring to be different when you speak out about ways others could understand and 
accommodate differences in your culture, traditions, religion, race, age, family background, ability 
differences, life-style, gender or sexual orientation, life circumstances, or other aspects of your 
background.  You are daring to be different when you are curious, appreciative and informed about 
your own and others differences. 

3. Connecting with Circles
 The skill of connecting with circles builds inclusive and welcoming a communities because it is the 
skill of making it easy for everyone to travel safely, respectfully, peacefully and enjoyably from group to
group. Connecting with circles involves a strong and balanced combination of culturally-appreciative 
participation and personally-responsive self care to manage the stresses and strains of culture shock 
as you 

 join new groups and adapt to different cultures and sub-cultures within new groups. 
 welcome visitors and newcomers to groups that you belong to.
 bring members of different groups together in inclusive and welcoming ways

4. Leaving Out Losing
Leaving out losing involves intentionally shifting away from exclusion and oppression based on race, 
ethnicity, faith, culture, ability, gender, sexual orientation and other differences by replacing 
competition and hierarchies with cooperation at every opportunity.  In diverse groups, cooperation 
leads to more equal and more creative sharing of skills, resources, power and influence. Although it is 
true that the people on top of a competitive system tend to use their power and influence to stay on 
top, it is amazingly easy for people who are skilled at leaving out losing to create cooperative groups 
within competitive systems. One way is to suggest co-operative alternatives such as a festival instead 
of a tournament. Another way is to invite people to co-operatively and collaboratively listen to and 
consider hopes and dreams for win-win ideals from groups and individuals from throughout a 
community. 

5. Refocusing and Reframing
Refocusing and reframing is the skill of exploring multiple perspectives and alternative points of view 
instead of getting tricked into polarized either/or thinking or “my way or the highway” arguments. You 
are practising this skill when you ask open questions and make suggestions that encourage people to 
consider the middle ground and the full range of ideas that are in between opposing positions. You are
practising this skill when you shift from focusing on problems to more appreciative points of view: Let's
share our different perspectives on the situation. I wonder if there are some more possibilities to 
consider? Let's open up the floor to everyone's input. What are some positive aspects of the situation?

6. Following the Leaders Behind Us
Following the leaders behind us is the skill of inviting and valuing contributions of people who are in 
the background. The skill of inviting background leaders to come forward is powerful because leaders 
in the background can see the big picture and so they often share observations and make suggestions
that shift everyone to see things from new angles, look at multiple ideas, and discover more tools for 
moving toward new ideas for solutions to our interconnected challenges. Following the leaders behind 
us also means learning from history and supporting the voices of people on the margins to be heard: 



children, elders, and people living below the poverty line. Instead of putting background leaders on the
spot, be careful to ask permission and develop a plan for sharing leadership first. Remember – in an 
inclusive group everyone has the right to pass. 

Compassionate Communication Skills

1. Listening with Intention, Attention and Balance
The skill of listening with intention, attention, and balance involves the conscious intention to be 
present, focused, and balanced in your interactions with an individual or a group of people. Be caring 
and careful in listening to each person's stories, feelings, values and needs and in sharing your 
perspectives.  Do the math: In a balanced discussion with 2 people it is fine to spend about half the 
time listening and half the time talking. In a balanced discussion with 10 people, each person spends 
about 90% of the time listening and 10% of the time talking. 

2. Tuning in with Empathy
Tuning in with empathy means joining in harmony with another person's feelings, values and needs.  
Tuning in with empathy means listening without judgment to what other people communicate with their
hearts, minds, actions and words. There is no need to ask questions, give advice, tell your story. Just 
listen, listen, listen with all your heart. 

3. Facts, Feelings and Values
Both compassionate listening and compassionate talking focus on facts, feelings and values: 

 share observable facts without analyzing or judging 
 share feelings and check into how others are feeling about what is going on
 consider what is important to others (their needs and their values) and share what is important 

to you (your needs and your values)

4. Compassionately Asking Questions and Making Requests
Compassionately asking questions and making requests involves inviting people to choose how they 
want to answer and how they want to respond instead of making demands. When you listen and 
connect with compassion as part of asking questions or making requests you open doors to choice 
and mutual consideration. Remember that too many questions and too many requests put people on 
the spot – so one or two thoughtful questions or requests is enough.  Also remember that open 
questions and requests give much more choice than yes/no questions. 

5. Understanding in Any Language
Understanding in any language involves reaching across differences in language, vocabulary, facial 
expressions, body language and other ways of communicating. Understanding in any language 
involves giving extra time, being creative in listening, and trusting that we don't need to understand 
every single word. When people speak different languages, support from fluent communicators such 
as interpreters is often helpful to bridge the communication gaps and deepen understanding. However,
when interpreters are not present, use all your senses, your heart and your creativity to understand 
and to be understood. 

Anti-Discrimination First Aid Skills for Responding to Situations of Discrimination

Diversity education is similar to driver education. Both are highly effective in raising awareness, 
building skills, improving safety and preventing people from getting hurt. However, no amount of 



preventative education can reduce the risk of a traffic accident or an incident of discrimination to zero. 
Even seemingly minor 'fender-benders' such as racist jokes, homophobic remarks, put-downs or 
insults may cause much more damage on the inside than can be seen on the outside.

Therefore, just as many people take Emergency First Aid training in case they are on the scene of an 
accident, many inclusive leaders take Anti-Discrimination First Aid training in case they are on the 
scene of an incident of discrimination. Anti-discrimination First Aid is a set of skills you hope you won’t 
have to use very often. But – like all First Aid – it is important to practice these skills so that you are 
ready and able to respond if needed. 

A. Assess the Situation
The skill of assessing the situation is the skill of observing and deciding what to do when you witness 
someone being mistreated, excluded or discriminated against in other ways.  Ask yourself:
1. Is it safe for me to help or do I go and get help?
2. What is the best way for me to help?
3. Which of the A, B C's of Anti-Discrimination First Aid should I do next?

A. Is also for Assert Access Rights and Advocacy
Although everyone has the right to participate fully and freely in all aspects of community life,
many people get left out of places and activities that others take for granted. Asserting Access Rights 
helps shift situations of exclusion toward inclusion. This skill involves offering your support to the 
individual or group who is being left out. Two or more heads are often much better than one lone voice
for identifying the barriers, finding allies, making a plan and then taking action to shift to inclusion. 

B. Take a Break
Taking a break is the skill of inviting and supporting at least one person take time-out from a situation 
of discrimination or any kind of conflict. When people take a break, then everyone can cool down and 
start thinking instead of being in defensive fight/flight mode. The steps are to go somewhere safe, talk 
the situation over, consider who might be able to help, think about what to do next, and develop a 
thoughtful plan for what to do and who else to involve. 

C. Communicate Your Concerns With Care
Communicating your concerns with care involves thoughtfully choosing what to say that will do at least
one of these things:

 put a stop to an incident of discrimination
 communicate support to those who have been hurt
 open up opportunities for talking about what is going on.  

You can say what you have to say to everyone, the person who may have caused the hurt, those who 
may have been hurt or other witnesses. You can communicate your concerns by interrupting the 
incident, or expressing your values and feelings, or asking an open question, or pointing out the 
discrimination, or making a request.

D. Debrief and Defuse
Debriefing and defusing is a follow up skill with two parts. Debriefing is talking with someone you trust 
who has the skills and authority to do something about a discriminatory situation. Defusing is co-
operating with this person in authority to bring the people involved together to discuss the impact of 
what happened and come up with plans for restoring safety, respect, and fairness. 

E. Ethical Witnessing
Ethical Witnessing means taking responsible social action to challenge and try to change unfair 



practices and systems.  Some methods are: speaking out about what you are observing, letter writing, 
presentations, petitions, drama, music, art, workshops, clubs, support groups, alliances. By being an 
ethical and active witness, we can lead the way toward the changes we want to see in the world. 

F. Forming Circles of Support
Forming Circles of Support is the skill of inviting others to help you create sanctuaries of safety, 
respect, choice and fun for people and other living beings that are experiencing discrimination. Within 
these safe places individuals are valued, protected, and have opportunities to relax, thrive and plan 
how to address discrimination. Some examples of supportive circles are support groups, art, music 
and theatre groups, clubs, alliances, collaborative, buddy-groups and circles of friends. 

Building Bridges Within Groups and Building Bridges Between Groups

In inclusive and welcoming communities, Inclusive Leaders are applying the steps of networking, 
gathering, building, action planning and follow-up over and over again. The Building Bridges steps can
be applied to build bridges between individuals and between groups (such as different families, 
organizations, classrooms, schools, or government departments) in order to support any event, 
program, project or other initiative to be more welcoming and inclusive.

Step 1: Networking
Networking is the skill of personally inviting people to get involved. Perhaps you are supporting people
in a group to get to know each other. Perhaps you are forming a new group, planning an event, 
organizing a project, or reaching out to include more people. Whatever your goals, networking is most 
effective when you meet with formal and informal leaders, invite people within your circles of influence 
and interest, and help people get across barriers such as time, money, anxiety, and uncertainty. When
we work together we can find ways of supporting everyone to get involved by providing supports such 
as child care, interpreting, alternate text formats, wheelchair access, and culturally-comfortable 
venues). 

Step 2: Gathering
Gathering is the skill of creating a relaxed, welcoming and 'disarming' atmosphere that feels satisfying 
and beneficial for everyone involved. Gathering people together as equals involves acknowledging 
and valuing everyone's identities (including the place you are meeting). The goal of gathering is to 
relax people, disarm fight/flight reactions and open up people's minds. When everyone is gathered, it 
becomes easier to share leadership and to learn with and from each other. 

Step 3: Building Relationships
Building meaningful relationships means replacing assumptions, stereotypes and judgments with 
understanding of each others truths, feelings and values. Building relationships involves being open to
interacting, mutual learning, and co-operation. Building relationships means spending time sharing: 
stories, traditions, information, feelings, ideas, challenges, struggles, passions, concerns, teachings, 
and successes.

Step 4: Building Community
Building community means sharing leadership in building a culture based on safety, respect, equality, 
choice and fun.  Usually sharing leadership involves listening, being friendly, building each other up, 
and co-operating. Cooking and sharing food together is a simple example of a community-building 
project that will benefit everyone involved. 



Step 5: Building Skills
Building skills within groups and between groups involves learning and applying all the skills that are in
this protocol: Skills for connecting with differences, skills for communicating with compassion, skills for
responding with Anti-discrimination First Aid, and skills for Building Bridges. When you put these skills 
into practice over and over again, you are playing a strong leadership role in building a welcoming and
inclusive community that is free of racism and other forms of discrimination. 

Step 6: Building Awareness
Building awareness means learning to listen locally and think globally about our interconnected 
environmental, economic, political, social, and spiritual challenges. Listening is the key to building 
awareness about each others passions, concerns, histories, hopes, fears and dreams for the future. 

Step 7: Action Planning
Individuals and groups can create plans and commitments for what we want to do to build a more 
welcoming and inclusive world. The most sustainable action plans involve doing something about our 
concerns by doing what we love. 

Step 8: Follow Up
Every journey begins with a single step, and step by step Inclusive Leaders go forward in a spiral of 
networking, gathering, building, action planning and more follow up.  By bringing our differences 
together and by applying these skills over and over again we will succeed in building welcoming and 
inclusive communities where everyone belongs and everyone is valued.

How the Inclusive Leadership Protocol was Developed

Dr. Linda Hill, Ra Gill and other community leaders began developing Inclusive Leadership in 2002 
through inter generational/ intercultural Participatory Action Education and Research. In 2005, 
Cowichan Intercultural Society contracted with Linda to develop Inclusive Leadership into a protocol 
for preventing and responding to “critical incidents” of racism and other forms of discrimination. This 
three year process funded by the Government of BC involved several thousand adults and youth from 
non-profit organizations, schools, government departments. Many Cowichan Intercultural Society staff 
and volunteers contributed including current staff members Linda McDaniels, Ray Anthony, Pema 
Rigzin, and Christine Chan. From 2007 to 2011, the Government of BC funded Cowichan Intercultural 
Society to provide Inclusive Leadership education to rural communities throughout the Province of BC 
that were involved in Organizing Against Racism and Hate (OARH Communities)

In 2013, the Inclusive Leadership Co-operative was incorporated as a non-profit, community service 
association with a vision of engaging adults and youth from around the world in Inclusive Leadership. 
Each year hundreds of adults and youth from throughout the Cowichan Region and beyond become 
involved in learning and implementing the Inclusive Leadership protocol. As the international Earth 
Charter (www.earthcharter.org) says, “Every individual, family, organization, and community has a vital
role to play. The arts, sciences, religions, educational institutions, media, businesses, 
nongovernmental organizations, and governments are all called to offer creative leadership.”

http://www.earthcharter.org/


Ladysmith Festival of Lights Society

Amount Requested:  $40,000. 
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Ladysmith Festival of Lights Society

Budgeted Income Statement

For the years ended February 28, 2018 and 2019

 

REVENUE February 28, 2018 February 28, 2019

General Revenue

General Donations 20,000.00$                      20,000.00$                        

Donation Cans; Shuttle Bus; Bottles 2,000.00 2,000.00 

Street Vendors 1,500.00 1,500.00 

Town of Ladysmith Grant 12,000.00 12,000.00 

CVRD Grant 40,000.00 40,000.00 

Membership Dues 150.00 150.00 

Craft Fair 2,800.00 2,800.00 

Spaghetti Dinner Sales 4,000.00 3,500.00 

Promo Sales - New Merchandise 4,000.00 4,000.00 

Net General Revenue 86,450.00 85,950.00 

Other Revenue

Gaming Grant 35,000.00 35,000.00 

Donations from Gaming Accounts 1,000.00 1,000.00 

Miscellaneous Revenue 1,000.00 1,000.00 

Total Other Revenue 37,000.00 37,000.00 

TOTAL REVENUE 123,450.00 122,950.00 

EXPENSE

Cost of Goods Sold

COGS - Spaghetti Dinner 1,500.00 1,500.00 

COGS - Merchandise (new Stock) 3,500.00 3,000.00 

Total Cost of Goods Sold 5,000.00 4,500.00 

Payroll Expenses

Wages & Salaries 16,000.00 16,000.00 

Total Payroll Expense 16,000.00 16,000.00 

General & Administrative Expenses

Advertising & Promotions 4,000.00 4,000.00 

Decorations - Bulbs and Garland 20,000.00 20,000.00 

Decorations - New Heritage and repair of existing 30,000.00 30,000.00 

Chuck Perrin Tree upgrades 500.00 500.00 

Donations 1,500.00 1,500.00 

Event Expenses - Supplies 100.00 100.00 

Event Expenses-Sound System 7,000.00 7,000.00 

Event Expenses - Crowd Control 12,000.00 12,000.00 

Event Expenses - Other 1,000.00 1,000.00 



Volunteer Meals 1,500.00 1,500.00 

Event Expenses - Entertainment 1,100.00 1,100.00 

Event Expenses - Light Up 500.00 500.00 

Licences, Dues, & Fees 250.00 250.00 

Hydro & Gas 3,200.00 3,200.00 

Insurance - Building and contents 3,000.00 3,000.00 

Insurance -Directors & Officers 700.00 700.00 

Insurance - Liability 250.00 250.00 

Interest & Bank Charges 20.00 20.00 

Office Supplies 1,000.00 1,000.00 

Fireworks 13,000.00 13,000.00 

Repair & Maintenance - general 200.00 200.00 

Building repairs and upgrades 1,000.00 1,000.00 

Telephone & Internet 1,800.00 1,800.00 

Utilities: Water, Garbage 450.00 450.00 

Total General & Admin. Expenses 104,070.00 104,070.00 

TOTAL EXPENSE 125,070.00 124,570.00 

NET INCOME (1,620.00)$                       (1,620.00)$                         



Program Description 

The Ladysmith Festival of Lights Society is about to host its thirty-first (31st) year as an event in the 

community of Ladysmith.  It started with the sole purpose to provide the community of Ladysmith with 

a festive “Light Up” event and a spectacular light display during the Christmas season.  After thirty-one 

years this event has become a part of the history of this little heritage town.  The townspeople have 

worked very hard over the last thirty-one years to maintain the heritage look of the town including the 

buildings, the sidewalks, atmosphere of the businesses and the ambiance of enjoying our amenities.  

The Festival of Lights event now attracts people from all over Vancouver Island, BC and the world to 

view and enjoy the heritage flavour of the town and our annual light up to kick off the Christmas season. 

 The community supports the program with hundreds of volunteers who provide over 3,700 volunteer 

hours and over $80,000 of in-kind services maintaining aging decorations, providing services and boom 

trucks to help lift the decorations to the top of buildings and decorating the trees along the main street 

in Ladysmith. 

The board and staff work with the business community and key volunteers to refurbish or build newer 

decorations each year to help change the look of the display and to keep the program as brilliant as 

possible with the funds we have available.   

This year, we again, need to continue to increase the LED technology in the light scheme without 

sacrificing the quality of the display and to purchase new decoration frames to replace the older worn 

out decorations, shopping locally for these products whenever we can.  The cost savings to the Town of 

Ladysmith through reduced hydro bills due to our switch-over to LED technology is estimated to be 25 to 

30% to date with more savings to come as more and more of the lights are switched to the LED 

technology.  We are also in the process of creating new heritage decorations for the buildings 

downtown.  These decorations are intended to celebrate and showcase the history of the town. In fiscal 

2018 we created and installed a replication of Locie Train #11, our resident antique train. Already in the 

works is a Coasts Salish Canoe to be installed on the roof of the Credit Union building. We have plans for 

enhancements to Bob Stuart Park at the north end of town.  We hope to turn it into an enchanted 

winter forest utilizing icicle lights amongst other lights and decorations.  We are working towards 

animation for our decorations starting with the Locie Train #11 installed on the RBC building this past 

Festival. 

Much of the labour required to build these new heritage decorations will come from local community 

members donating their time but we will need funding to pay for the materials and bulbs required to 

create these showcase pieces plus the additional labour required to build these pieces before our event 

this fall. 

We are also needing to replace our stringers and garland as they are getting old and worn.  These 

stringers are front and centre to our light display.  The cost of garland of this size and quality is quite 

prohibitive. 

It is estimated that this past year over 30,000 people came to see the light up kick-off event and more 

came nightly for the remainder of the season to walk our town and photograph the lights.  We expect a 

similar number this year for our event.  Light up night is attended by people from all over Vancouver 

Island and the lower mainland.  Our ongoing festival of lights, which lasts into January each year, is also 



attended by people from all over Vancouver Island and the lower mainland as people come to the town 

each night to walk the streets and photograph the lights.  What started as a local event has become an 

event for people from all over British Columbia.  It has become so large that we are having a special 

meeting in February to discuss the possibility of changing the Light Up kick off event to the last Saturday 

in November rather than the Thursday to give spectators and volunteers more time to get to town. 

We have had to increase our budget for crowd control for our Light Up Parade substantially due to new 

regulations and rules from the Department of Highways.  What was originally a $5,000 to $7,000 cost 

has become over $12,000 in costs to satisfy Highways and allow our Light Up Parade to occur. 

Our light up event night is fully accessible to all including handicap parking spaces and shuttle buses to 

carry people to the downtown core where the event takes place.  The main street is closed to vehicle 

traffic thus allowing foot traffic, strollers, wheelchairs, walkers and scooters easy access.  The 

community supports it as shown in the in-kind and volunteer hours given.  The program builds a large 

amount of community pride as it is a premier event on Vancouver Island and allows our shopkeepers to 

access customers that would not otherwise be available to them. 

 

 



Ladysmith Family and Friends Society

Amount Requested:  $2,500. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .013 



 

   

REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION 

Organization Information: 

Name of Organization: _____________________________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: ________________________________ Postal Code: ____________________ 

Name of Contact Person: ___________________________________________________________ 

Telephone No.__________________________________     email: _________________________ 

 

Project/Initiative Scope: 
Projects and initiatives submitted for grant-in-aid consideration must be regional in scope (benefits 
between six and nine electoral areas and two and four municipalities). 

Which category is this project, event or service? *(see page 3) _________________________________ 

Which electoral areas and municipalities will this project, event or service provide benefit to? 

□ Area A – Mill Bay/Malahat 
□ Area B – Shawnigan Lake 
□ Area C – Cobble Hill 
□ Area D – Cowichan Bay 
□ Area E – Cowichan Station/Sahtlam/Glenora 
□ Area F – Cowichan Lake South/Skutz Falls 
□ Area G – Saltair/Gulf Islands 
□ Area H – North Oyster/Diamond 
□ Area I – Youbou/Meade Creek 
□ City of Duncan 
□ District of North Cowichan 
□ Town of Ladysmith 
□ Town of Lake Cowichan 

Description of project, event or service: _________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Start Date: ____________________________ End Date: ______________________________ 

Is this project, event or service part of your core operations?  Yes_______ No_________ 

Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization? 

Yes__________    No_________ 

 

Ladysmith Family and Friends Society (LaFF)

PO Box 1830 V9G 1B4

Jacqueline Neligan

(250) 210-0870 laffexecutivedirector@shaw.ca

Social

X

X

X

April 2018 October 2018

Ladysmith Family and Friends Society’s ‘Grow with Me’ Project is a fun, educational, and  
multi-generation initiative bringing our community together and providing caregivers and their children knowledge about food security. Our ‘Grow with Me’ initiative 
includes a three week long period in the spring at LaFF's Morning program where children plant seeds and begin to watch them grow. During a Planting Party at
Ladysmith’s Community Gardens children will plant their seeds, as well as create colourful planters filled with marigolds, peas, tomatoes and other plants which 
they can take home for their own enjoyment. We will also rent a bus to provide transportation for Stz'uminus families to attend the Planting Party, bringing different 
communities together. Herbs will be planted in our new playspace, which LaFF will be able to use in the meals we regularly make and share during programming. 
LaFF’s Harvest Party in the fall will be a celebration of our garden, and LaFF families will harvest the food they planted and share amongst themselves.  

X

X
X

X

X

X
X
X

X
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If yes, provide details: ________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Who will benefit from the project, event or service? _________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

What will those benefits be? ___________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? _____________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the 
community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism: ________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Budget Information: 
Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for events/services. 

Total cost of the Project, Event or Service:     $__________________ 

Grant in Aid applied for:      $____________________ 

Will you receive other sources of funding? Yes _________ No _____________ 

Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected: 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

 

N/A

X

2,500

LaFF is an inclusive, barrier-free Family Resource Program open five mornings/week, 
serving over 500 families with children ages 0-6 and offering many different programs and services to meet the varied needs of our families and community. In 2017 
we had over 13,500 visits from families living in Ladysmith and surrounding areas, including Lake Cowichan, Duncan, Chemainus, Saltair, and Crofton. There are no 
financial barriers to our program, and all of our families are able to participate in the various ‘Grow With Me’ Activities.  Beneficiaries include families from many 
different areas of the CVRD, particularly children ages 0-6, Ladysmith's Community Garden, our senior volunteers and the CVRD community overall.

Benefits include:  Families and their children learning about growing food and the plant lifecycles; curious young minds 

will get to see seeds sprouting and the plants growing and changing; families will take home a colourful planter filled with marigolds, peas and tomatoes to enjoy and

snacks during Grow With Me activities, as well as enjoy some of the harvest at home; families will spend time outside and learn about Community Gardens. 

and belonging when they visit the Ladysmith Community Gardens and see the beans and pumpkins they planted growing; families will receive healthy meals and 

eat from; community relationships will form and strengthen as multiple generations bond together over dirt, insects and planting activities; children feel a sense of pride

Impacts include fewer meaningful 

volunteer opportunities for seniors and other community members, loss of learning about healthy food and how to grow it, loss of intergenerational 

bonding opportunities, loss of opportunities for young children to experience curiosity, pride and learning during the important 0-6 years, loss of 

LaFF is always looking at new ideas to inspire community 

and support young families. This project combines many innovative ideas and builds capacity by: providing meaningful volunteer opportunities

early years (by asking questions such as 'how does the dirt feel, what colour is it, what shape is the seed?') and helping them create a toolbox of skills 

(particularly for our seniors); creating opportunities for different generations to bond together; teaching mindfulness to our children during the important 

to use when they enter school; creating opportunities to improve physical literacy (digging, pulling, being outside); and removing barriers to 
participation so families can experience healthy food in a supportive environment without any stigmas.  

4,600

Ladysmith Health Care Auxiliary (Food) - confirmed$200

$800 Local merchants and individual donations for supplies - pending

Benefits include:  Families and their children learning about growing food and the plant lifecycles; curious young minds 

opportunities for families to learn about growing food and food security, loss of opportunities for families from different electoral areas/municipalities/

cultures to connect, loss of opportunities for families to experience outdoors together.

$1100 Ladysmith Family and Friends - confirmed



Regional Grant-in-Aid Application  Page 3 
 

Please describe cost reduction strategies employed: _______________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions: 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Have you included your organization’s current annual budget and most recent financial statements? 

Yes_______________   No________________ 

 

 

Reporting Requirements 

If your organization is successful you will be required to submit a report which includes annual financial 
statements and a description of how the grant funding was spent and outcomes that were achieved by 
February 28 of the year following receipt of the funds. 

 

*Category: 

Social – projects that support the health, well-being and diversity of individuals and communities 

Environmental – projects that enhance or protect, enhance or restore environmental values 

Sport/Recreation – projects related to the provision of sports or recreation activities, tournaments or 
events 

Arts/Culture – projects that enhance the provision and availability of arts and culture services and 
amenities 

Heritage – projects that protect and interpret the region’s heritage values 

Economic Development – projects related to creating or enhancing economic opportunities 

 

Email will be used if additional information is required. 

Note: All applications must be received by the Regional District on or before January 31, 2018 to be considered for a 2018 
grant.  Please attach any additional documentation supporting your Project, Event or Service. 

X

LaFF is non profit and is always looking for ways to reduce costs. 

For this project we will look for donations for soil, seeds and bedding plants to use in the various planting activities. We also rely heavily on our 

volunteers to help prepare and serve snacks and to assist with planting activities. The Town of Ladysmith provides Aggie Hall in kind for most of 

LaFF has over 85 volunteers who contributed over 2100 volunteer hours in 2017.  For this project we will have master gardener volunteers working 

with families during planting as well as senior volunteers preparing and serving healthy snacks and meals. LaFF will also be looking for donations 

of seeds, bedding plants and planters. The Town of Ladysmith provides Aggie Hall in kind for most of LaFF's regular programming. 

LaFF's regular programming. Ladysmith Health Care Auxiliary has already contributed funds to offset food costs during activities.



LADYSMITH FAMILY AND FRIENDS

FINANCIAL STATEMENT

DEC 2017

 MAY -DEC 

2017 

 MAY - 

DEC 2017 

 MAY 2017 - 

APR 2018 

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUE

Grant Revenue

MCFD 2,654.37   21,235          20,622      30,933        

MCFD - Make Children First 458.04      3,664            3,706        5,560          

MCFD - OTO Funding 5,000.00   20,000          -            

BC Gaming Grant 6,795.81   37,986          25,333      38,000        

United Way 4,875.00   14,625          13,333      20,000        

United Way - Play boxes 750.00      2,250            -            -              

United Way - Coord Top Up (LEYP) -            2,500            -            -              

Children's Health Foundation 213.87      7,296            -            -              

LEYP 1,146.80   8,352            4,884        7,326          

In Kind - Rent 3,333.00   26,664          26,667      40,000        

Grant Revenue - Other -            10,812          -            -              

Total Grant Revenue 25,226.89 155,383        94,546      141,819      

Donations

Drop in 552.00      3,875            3,667        5,500          

Super Hero - Monthly Donations/Individual 1,025.00   2,120            2,307        3,460          

Business/Service Groups 600.00      8,750            6,000        9,000          

LDCU - LaFF Passes -            -                1,000        1,500          

LHCA - Food Security 7,000.00   7,000            6,333        9,500          

Town of Ladysmith /Grant in Aid 2,500.00   3,500            1,667        2,500          

Memberships -            -                167           250             

Hosted Event Funds - billed -            600               667           1,000          

Fundraising Events -            2,011            4,667        7,000          

Breakfast with Santa 7,953.00   10,318          8,000        12,000        

Golf Tournament -            19,935          13,333      20,000        

Other Fundrasing -            730               -            -              

Interest Earned -            -                -            -              

Total Donations 19,630.00 58,839          47,807      71,710        

TOTAL REVENUE 44,856.89 214,223        142,353    213,529      

EXPENSE

Program Supplies

General Program supplies 754.64      3,378            1,000        1,500          

Program Food 772.37      3,069            3,333        5,000          

Total Program Supplies 1,527.01   6,447            4,333        6,500          

Wages

Program Coordinator 2,852.43   23,958          23,395      35,092        

Children's First Coordinator 990.00      7,770            3,452        5,178          

Program Facilitators 2,169.81   21,662          19,240      28,860        

LaFFternoon 117.72      1,507            1,218        1,826          

Family Frolic Facilitators 133.04      638               732           1,098          

Administrator 1,785.00   15,113          13,525      20,287        

Finance Coordinator 365.40      5,040            5,987        8,980          

Volunteer Coordinator 141.60      1,132            1,133        1,699          

Summer Student -            4,725            -            -              

Outreach Facilitator 96.15        1,400            -            -              

Pro D Hours -            742               420           630             

Special Events/Fundraising 1,137.25   1,993            697           1,045          

Staff Meetings -            408               557           836             

Vacation Pay 322.72      3,010            4,890        7,335          

CPP and EI Expense 657.67      6,048            4,283        6,425          

RRSP Contribution -            1,200            800           1,200          

Staff Recognition -            1,900            -            -              

Work Safe BC -            -                520           780             

Total Wages 10,768.79 98,246          80,847      121,271      

General & Administrative Expenses

Office Supplies 554.37      1,995            846           1,450          

Advertising & Promotion -            2,122            292           500             

Printing 139.44      1,409            292           500             

Phone -            1,000            875           1,500          

Board/Staff Meeting Exp -            149               146           250             

Recognition and Honorariums 772.33      967               875           1,500          

Professional Development -            1,178            875           1,500          

Consulting 1,301.75   3,054            5,530        9,480          

Professional Fees -            1,575            875           1,500          

Insurance -            1,353            1,196        2,050          

License and Fees 144.00      420               263           450             

Rent 787.50      4,488            3,675        6,300          

Rent in kind 3,333.00   26,664          23,333      40,000        

Interest & Bank Charges 15.00        156               58             100             

Mileage & Travel 46.43        780               467           800             

LEYP Expenses 435.70      1,560            2,524        4,326          

Event/Fundraising Expense 923.27      10,042          7,000        12,000        

Amortization -            -                73             125             

Total General & Admin. Expenses 8,452.79   58,914          49,193      84,331        

TOTAL EXPENSE 20,748.59 163,606        134,373    212,102      

NET INCOME 24,108.30 50,616          7,979        1,427          







 Literacy Now Cowichan Society

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050
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213B – 80 Station Street, Duncan. BC. V9L 1M4 

 
Lyle Smith, 
Cowichan Valley Regional District 
175 Ingram Street 
Duncan, BC V9L 1N8 
 
January 19, 2018 
 
Dear Mr. Smith,  
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Literacy Now Cowichan Society, please accept this letter of 
request for 2018 funding for the Pathways to Learning community adult literacy program in the amount of 
$10,000. 

The Literacy Now Cowichan Society and the Pathways to Learning program are supported by many 
dedicated volunteers who ensure that free tutoring is available for adults in our region who need to increase 
their literacy in reading, writing, math, speaking or reading in English or using digital devices to access 
services on the internet. We have worked with over 1200 adult learners in the past 6 years, many of whom 
are of working age but also large number of seniors whose need for digital literacy is staggering.  

According to the OECD’s 2013 international adult literacy survey, 16% of British Columbians aged 16-65 
cannot read well enough to perform basic functions like reading street signs, a menu or directions on a 
medicine bottle let alone reading from webpages or newspapers. That’s over 13,000 citizens in our region!  

Let me thank you in advance for considering our first grant-in-aid application to the CVRD. Please don’t 
hesitate to contact me if you require any further information, need me to speak to your department or 
committee or need clarification on any part of the application. 

 

Yours very sincerely, 

 

Kathleen Erickson, Executive Director 
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COWICHAN VALLEY REGIONAL DISTRICT - REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION 

Name of Organization: Literacy Now Cowichan Society 

Name of Contact Person: Kathleen Erickson, Executive Director 

Mailing Address: 213B-80 Station Street  Postal Code: V9L 1M4  

Telephone No. 250-597-1776    Fax No: No fax number 

Project/Initiative Scope: 

Projects and initiatives submitted for grant-in-aid consideration must be regional in scope (benefits between 
six and nine electoral areas and two and four municipalities). 

Which category is the project, event or service? Social 

Which electoral areas and municipalities will this project, event or service provide benefit to? 

 Area A – Mill Bay/Malahat 
 Area B – Shawnigan Lake 
 Area C – Co9bble Hill 
 Area D - Cowichan Bay 
 Area E – Cowichan Station/Sahtlam/Glenora 
 Area G – Saltair/Gulf Islands 
 Area H – North Oyster/Diamond 
 Area I – Youbou/Meade Creek] 
 City of Duncan 
 District of North Cowichan 
 Town of Ladysmith 
 Town of Lake Cowichan 

Description of Project, Event or Service: For the past 6 years, Literacy Now Cowichan has operated an adult 
literacy program called Pathways to Learning, based in Duncan, serving citizens of the Cowichan Valley.  To 
date we have worked with over 1200 adult learners. Our clients are people who wish to improve their skills 
in reading, writing, math, computers and other technology, use of the internet, filling out forms (especially 
for government) as well as speaking, writing and reading in English.  Often their motivation is to improve 
their skills for getting a job, or getting a better job or to be able to function better in their communities. Our 
services are free and we offer a very ‘learner centered’ program with 1-2-1 tutoring using highly trained 
volunteer tutors. 

Start Date: On-going, all year round End Date: on-going 

Is this project, event or service part of your core operations? Yes 

Is the Project, Event or Service already provided in the community by another organization? 
Yes__________ No X 

If yes, provide details:______________________________________________________________  

Who will benefit from the Project, Event or Service: Beneficiaries include adult citizens of the Cowichan 
region and, by extension, their families. 
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What will those benefits be?  

Literacy is the foundation to individuals’ active participation in society. Literacy builds strong, resilient 
communities because people with higher literacy skills: 
• Earn more 
• Work more 
• Need less social assistance 
People with higher literacy skills: 
• Make better health choices 
• Lead healthier lives 
• Live longer and more independently 
People with higher literacy skills: 
• Are less involved with crime 
• Are more likely to vote, volunteer, get involved in their communities 
• Ensure that their children have strong literacy skills 
The Cowichan region has a strong social safety net and the Pathways to Learning program is one 
strand in that web of support. The program builds on the current community assets by filling the 
gaps for those citizens for whom the school experience was less than optimal. The Pathways to 
Learning program offers people a free, safe, inclusive learning environment where their needs are 
met on an individual basis with one-to-one support from a caring volunteer tutor. Learners set 
goals and learn to break down those goals into manageable and achievable steps. Success then 
builds on success and learners are challenged to look beyond our program for the next goal they 
want to achieve. Programs like Pathways to Learning bridge learners to other programs in our 
community such as credit educational programs, workplace programs, jobs and volunteer 
opportunities. While going through the process of ‘getting back to school’ learners work on new 
skills but, in reality, are strengthening their capacity and developing resiliency to meet the demands 
of today’s complicated society. 
 

What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? 

As our world becomes increasingly complex and there are expectations from government and society to 
access services and information online, many of our citizens are being left behind. Accessing services online 
not only requires very good digital literacy skills but the ability to read and write at a high level.  

According to the OECD, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development’s 
International Adult Literacy Survey of 2013, 16% of British Columbians are at Level 1 literacy or 
below and another 29% rated at Level 2 out of a 5 level scale on this survey. This means that 45% of 
British Columbians aged 16 to 65 have difficulty accomplishing some daily living tasks which require 
literacy skills in reading and writing including filling out a form, comparison shopping and 
understanding instructions. Out of the 83,000 citizens of the Cowichan region, 37,000 people need 
assistance with operating successfully in today’s world.  

The survey’s results for digital literacy are worse with 20% of British Columbians aged 16 to 65 
reporting no previous computer experience or did not pass the basic computer skills test or opted 
out of the computer-based test. A further 13% are below Level 1 and have very limited computer 
skills, generally using one function in a familiar environment, such as basic email. Therefore, 33% of 
our valley citizens aged 16-65 cannot independently access online services, search for information 
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on the internet or search and apply for jobs. The barriers of low literacy mean less participation in 
the community, higher poverty rates, lower health outcomes and higher incidents of criminal 
behaviour. 

Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the 
community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism. 

Inspiring Volunteerism: Each of our learners is supported with one-to-one tutoring with a highly 
trained volunteer. The work tutors do with their learner is often life-changing. Learners, who before 
believed themselves “stupid” and unable to learn, begin to gain self-confidence and enthusiasm for 
learning.  Their body language changes, they make more eye contact and smile more. And the 
relationship with their tutor becomes that of a friend and mentor. Our tutors, who are mostly 
retired, choose to stay with Literacy Now Cowichan because the work is so rewarding and they can 
see the difference they make. 

Small Innovation: Many of our learners come from the most vulnerable in our community and often 
have multiple barriers to sustaining the investment of learning. Supporting learners to continue 
with the work they do in the Pathways to Learning program is critical and we have found an 
innovative way to keep up their enthusiasm and help them to learn. Each year we apply for a small 
grant from Decoda Literacy Solutions which is specifically focused on this type of support. The $640 
we received last year bought bus tickets, healthy food, book store gift certificates, paid for driver’s 
license tests and the occasional meal when we know the learner hasn’t eaten. The funds are 
awarded by the tutor in consultation with LNC staff. Sometimes this tiny bit of support makes all 
the difference to a learner’s success. 

Building capacity: Raising literacy skills builds capacity in the individual which then strengthens 
community capacity and involvement.  One learner, who has been coming to our center for a year 
and a half, and was virtually a nonreader, voted for the first time in the recent provincial election. 
He and his tutor discussed the possible candidates and platforms (his reading is now at a grade 2 
level so this was all done orally) and they went together to the polling station. He studied for and 
earned his L driver’s license and has been thinking about getting a job.  

Budget Information: 

Total cost of the Project, Event or Service:  $76,500  

Grant-in-Aid applied for:   $10,000 

Will you receive other sources of funding? Yes X No _____________  

Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected:  

Ministry of Advanced Education - confirmed   $30,000 
Fundraising & Donations - expected    $ 2,500 
Services we offer for a fee - expected    $ 8,000 
Community Gaming Grant - expected    $20,000 
Island Savings Community Endowment – requested  $  5,000 
Please describe cost reduction strategies employed: 
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Literacy Now Cowichan has implemented a number of cost reduction strategies to make our operation as 
efficient as possible. We sublet a portion of our office to a local computer company thereby reducing our 
rent and receiving monthly free tech support. We use volunteer labour where we can such as with office 
cleaning and admin support. Once the volunteer has establish his/her credentials in the position, we offer 
references to them should they need that for a job application. When we need to make a purchase, we do 
cost comparisons and try to buy locally. This has built a reputation with local businesses and, when needed, 
we can call on them for donations. 

Indicate the volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations to be contributed to the Project, Event or Service:  

Volunteer Labour (20 tutors x 112 hr/yr x $20/hr)  $ 44,800 
Bookkeeping (3hrs/mo x 12mo x $25hr)    $      900 
Office cleaning (2hrs/wk x 45wks @ $20/hr)   $   1,800 
Storage ($50/mo)      $      600 
Network and computer tech support ($50/mo)   $      600 
Materials and Services      $    6,500 
 
Total        $  55,200 
 

Have you included your organizations current annual budget and previous years’ financial statements?  

Yes X   No____   Please note: our year end is December 31st. The unaudited financial statement 
for 2017 is not fully prepared as of this date so I have included financials for 2015 and 2016. I can submit 
the 2017 year end as soon as it is ready. Please let me know. 

Grant in Aid applied for: $10,000 

Note: All applications must be received by the Regional District on or before January 31st of each year to 
be considered in the current year. Please attach documentation as required by CVRD policy, and any 
additional documentation supporting your Project, Event or Service.  

 

For office use only:  

 All required documentation is included in application  
 The applicant is an incorporated society  
 The organization has not received 3 or more Regional Grants-in-Aid  
 The organization is locally based  

 



Literacy Now Cowichan Society
Draft Organization Budget 2018 Actual Budget

2017 2018
REVENUE

Ministry of Advanced Ed. Grant 30,000.00 30,000.00
Decoda Literacy Solutions Grant 27,004.58 27,000.00
Decoda - Additional Grants 1,639.74 2,140.00
CVRD operating grant 0.00 10,000.00
Charitable donation income 425.00 500.00
Fundraising Events 2,819.00 2,800.00
Donations and other Grants 6,363.01 5,000.00
Gaming Grant 20,000.00 20,000.00
Service Income 3,130.00 3,500.00
Other Income - rental income 1,684.75 1,800.00

TOTAL REVENUE 93,066.08 102,740.00

EXPENSE
Program Supplies 3,546.75 1,500.00
Wages 73,795.76 77,973.00
EI Expense 1,689.87 1,271.00
CPP Expense 3,161.47 3,859.00
WCB Expense 0.00 225.00
Advertising 490.05 
Website 1,432.92 175.00
Entertainment 0.00 
Events 750.36 750.00
Equipment lease 1,432.48 1,230.00
Accounting (donated) 0.00 0.00
Bank Charges 125.51 126.00
Learner Support 711.53 75.00
Insurance 1,780.87 1,800.00
Licenses and Fees 158.85 200.00
Meeting expenses 209.27 200.00
Miscellaneous 0.00 0.00
Office Supplies 682.05 700.00
Rent 16,089.57 18,000.00
Repairs and Maintenance - Renovations 5,213.41 0.00
Telephone and Cable 1,224.24 1,395.00
Training and Conferences 190.48 200.00
Travel 665.25 300.00
Utilities 390.42 1,050.00
Volunteer training and support 561.73 575.00

TOTAL EXPENSE 114,302.84 111,604.00

NET INCOME (21,236.76) (8,864.00)



















              Lake Days Society

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050













 Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society

Amount Requested:  $5,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .025



 

Corporate Services Department  

Att:-General Manager Mark Kueber 

175 Ingram Street,  

Duncan, British Columbia V9L 1N8 

January 25, 2018 

Dear Sir, 

Ref: Request for Regional Grants-in-Aid - for Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society -$5000 Requested for 

2018,   

Please find attached a document indicating, what we do as RCMSAR34 and about the larger Royal 

Canadian Marine Search and Rescue organization.  Our unit needs to fundraise $65,000.00 by end of 

2019 to get ready for engine replacements.  A completed application for the Regional Grants-in-Aid is 

enclosed. 

We would like to request the CVRD to become a partner in our fundraising program and consider a 

Regional Grants-in-Aid to the RCMSAR34 unit.  

Thank you for considering this request. 

Yours truly, 

Jacobus Zwaan      

Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society*     

Fundraising Coordinator      

Active member of RCMSAR34     

Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society 

PO Box 62, 

Mill Bay, BC, V0R 2P0                                 

*Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society is the Non Profit Society, that supports the RCMSAR34 Operations financially – 890953946RR0001 

Website: http://rcmsar34.com/     

Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/rcmsar34.ca/ 

 

http://rcmsar34.com/
Jacobus Zwaan



 

REGIONAL GRANT-IN-AID APPLICATION 2018 

 
 REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION  
Organization Information:  
Name of Organization: Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society___________________  

Mailing Address: _____ Box 62, Mill Bay , BC ___ Postal Code: __ V0R 2P0_______  

Name of Contact Person: __ Jaap Zwaan _________________________________________  

Telephone No.___ 250-744-0009  _______________ email: __jaapzwaan@gmail.com_______  

Project/Initiative Scope:  
Projects and initiatives submitted for grant-in-aid consideration must be regional in scope (benefits 
between six and nine electoral areas and two and four municipalities).  

Which category is this project, event or service? *(see page 3) ____Social & Sport/Recreation 

__________  
Which electoral areas and municipalities will this project, event or service provide benefit to?  

X Area A – Mill Bay/Malahat  

□ Area B – Shawnigan Lake  

X Area C – Cobble Hill  

X Area D – Cowichan Bay  

□ Area E – Cowichan Station/Sahtlam/Glenora  

□ Area F – Cowichan Lake South/Skutz Falls  

X Area G – Saltair/Gulf Islands  

□ Area H – North Oyster/Diamond  

□ Area I – Youbou/Meade Creek  

□ City of Duncan  

□ District of North Cowichan  

□ Town of Ladysmith  

□ Town of Lake Cowichan  
X Denotes immediate areas, however all would benefit from marine rescues, if calamity occurs on the inlet waters. 

 

 
 Description of project, event or service: _________________________________________________  

 Across the British Columbia coast, the volunteer-based Royal Canadian Marine 

Search and Rescue (RCM-SAR) organization has developed a strategy to replace their 

engines, when they reach 1,500-2,000 hours.  

 RCM-SAR Station 34, located in Mill Bay, current engine hours are at 1,100 hours, 

Start Date: ____Late 2019______________ End Date: ______ Beginning 2020_____________  

Is this project, event or service part of your core operations? Yes___X____ No_________  

Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization?  

Yes__________ No____X_____ 

mailto:jaapzwaan@gmail.com


Regional Grant-in-Aid Application Page 2  

 
If yes, provide details: ________________________________________________________________  
__________________________________________________________________________________  
__________________________________________________________________________________  
__________________________________________________________________________________  
Who will benefit from the project, event or service? 

  Commercial mariners, recreational boaters and the general public throughout the 
waters of Saanich Inlet, including Cowichan Bay, Samsun Narrows, Maple Bay and 
Swartz Bay. 

 
What will those benefits be?  

RCM-SAR Station 34 provides year round marine search and rescue services. And recently 

RCMSAR signed a Memorandum of Understanding, which allows our unit to participate in other 

Emergency situations, when requested by other agencies.  
__________________________________________________________________________________  

What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? Vessel might not be able 

to respond to Emergency Situation. 
__________________________________________________________________________________  
__________________________________________________________________________________  
 Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the community 

to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism: RCM-SAR Station 34 promotes boating safety 
and provides boating safety education and Pleasure Craft safety checks as requested.  
Volunteers are always needed and being trained. The Kids Don’t Float program is a RCM-
SAR prevention initiative that has been in operation since 2002. They can be seen at some 
of the marinas in our area.  

__________________________________________________________________________________  

 

Budget Information:  
 
Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for events/services.  

Total cost of the Project, Event or Service: $_65,000.00_______________  

Grant in Aid applied for: $__5,000.00 (2018)  ____5,000.00 (2019)  ______________  

Will you receive other sources of funding? Yes ____X_____ No _____________  

Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected:  
Amount: _____$55,000.00__Source:  Donations are and will be requested from organizations                        
in our area influence.  

Amount: _____$30,000.00_________Source: ___Gaming Grants_________________________ 

Amount: ____  $25,000.00_________ Source: _Fundraising initiatives like the Conquer Cobble 

Hill Fundraiser 2018 & 19, and the Fall Fishing Derby 2018 &19 with the MBMG  

Amount: ________________ Source: ________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Regional Grant-in-Aid Application Page 3  
 

Please describe cost reduction strategies employed: _____This project does not allow for many cost 

reduction opportunities. Through the size of the RCMSAR organization, we expect preferred 

pricing for our replacement engines. Additionally where volunteers could help in the engine 

replacement costs we would provide that assistance at no charge.  
Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions:  
 Nineteen volunteers at RCM-SAR Station 34 provide year round 24/7 marine search and 

rescue services, train at least 3 hours every other week on the water, attend class room 
sessions once a month and are ready to respond to Mayday and Pan-Pan calls when on 
call. 

Have you included your organization’s current annual budget and most recent financial statements?  

Yes________X_______ No________________  

Reporting Requirements  
If your organization is successful you will be required to submit a report which includes annual financial statements 

and a description of how the grant funding was spent and outcomes that were achieved by February 28 of the year 

following receipt of the funds. 

*Category:  

Social – projects that support the health, well-being and diversity of individuals and communities  
Environmental – projects that enhance or protect, enhance or restore environmental values  
Sport/Recreation – projects related to the provision of sports or recreation activities, tournaments or 
events  
Arts/Culture – projects that enhance the provision and availability of arts and culture services and 
amenities  
Heritage – projects that protect and interpret the region’s heritage values  
Economic Development – projects related to creating or enhancing economic opportunities  
 
Email will be used if additional information is required.  
 
Note: All applications must be received by the Regional District on or before January 31, 2018 to be considered for a 2018 grant. Please 

attach any additional documentation supporting your Project, Event or Service. 

 



RCM Search and Rescue Unit #34

Proposed Budget 2018

November 2017 through October 31 2018

10-Jan-18

Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society 

Projected Budget- Revenue and Expense Actual 2017

Wise Finacial Projected 2018

Nov 1,16- Oct 01 2017 Nov 1, 2017- Oct 31 2018

Revenue -Operations Income

Community Donations anticipated 34,955.91                         10,000.00                              

Gaming Revenue 65,200.00                         14,450.00                              

Fundraising anticipated 15,000.00                              

CVRD Grant in Aid anticipated 10,000.00                         5,000.00                                

Interest 102.93                              50.00                                      

GST Rebate 3,000.00                                

Anticipated RevenuesRCMSAR- P Training & Incidents 15,185.07                         14,500.00                              

TOTAL  Income 125,443.91$                    62,000.00$                            

Other Income

Credit Interest 328.02                              

TOTAL  other Income 328.02$                            -$                                       

Expenses-Operating

Advertising and Promotion 155.00                              800.00                                   

Bank Charges and Interest 55.80                                60.00                                      

Boat Fuel 7,256.87                           8,000.00                                

Boat house Repairs 1,500.00                                

Boat Repairs and maintenance 10,632.60                         4,000.00                                

Business Registration Fees -                                    55.00                                      

Equipment and Rental Repair 672.90                              500.00                                   

First Aid Supplies 869.98                              1,000.00                                

Fundraising Expenses 2,941.91                           3,000.00                                

Insurance 2,628.65                           2,655.00                                

Meals and Entertainment 1,525.49                           2,000.00                                

Ministry Of Finance (BC) Expense -                                    -                                          

Moving Expenses -                                    3,000.00                                

Moorage $140+ GST -                                    1,650.00                                

Office Expenses 1,647.69                           1,800.00                                

Professional Fees 1,300.00                           1,400.00                                

Reconciliation Discrepancies 0.63-                                  -                                          

Telecommunications 1,610.64                           3,500.00                                

Training 1,379.77                           2,200.00                                

BC Corporate Registry 

Education Outreach Kids Don't Float 1,880.00                                

Expenses-Capital

Boat Refit -Titan 165,750.00                            

Boat Dock hydraulics, pontoons 2,500.00                                

Personal Protective gear ( Vests, 

Cruiser Suits new Crew) -                                    2,000.00                                

Safety Equipment 1,000.00                                

Total Expenses 32,676.67$                      210,250.00$                          
Net Income( Loss) 93,095.26$                      (148,250.00)$                        

Note: Titan Boat Refit Cost $165,750.00 covered by Gaming Grant $100,000.00 and Fund Raising account 

$65,750.00







 

Royal Canadian Marine Search and Rescue 

Station 34  

About us 

The Royal Canadian Marine Search and Rescue - Station 34 is a volunteer-based organisation located in Mill 

Bay dedicated to saving lives on the water.  We serve coastal communities throughout the Saanich Inlet on 

Southern Vancouver Island, British Columbia, providing year round search and rescue services to assist 

commercial mariners, recreational boaters and the general public. We also promote boating safety by providing 

free pleasure craft safety checks.  We are one of 42 marine rescue stations located across British Columbia, and 

part of the Royal Canadian Marine Search and Rescue (www.rcmsar.com) headquartered in Sooke.   

 

Our Crew  

Our crew are able-bodied men and women of all ages.  We train extensively in search and rescue prevention and 

techniques to maintain a level of professionalism that is expected by the communities we serve.  We promote 

ourselves and rely on other volunteers to help with fundraising, accounting, special events, maintenance and 

other essential roles that keep our station running. 

 

Our Vessel & Training 

Our vessel is a Titian 249T rigid hull inflatable powered by twin 150HP outboard engines.  It is equipped with a 

wide range of communication systems, state of the art electronics and specialised search and rescue equipment.   

 

Intensive training provides our crew with the latest in marine search and rescue techniques. As crew move 

through our programs they learn a variety of skills, acquiring Transport Canada Certifications, that enable them 

to be confident and in control of their surroundings while responding effectively to any given situation. 

 

Funding 

We rely on several sources of funding to support our training program, maintaining and updating search and 

rescue equipment, and support operational cost related to our vessel. Our funding partners and sources are: 

 

 Mill Bay Marine Rescue Society; 

 Royal Canadian Marine Search and Rescue; 

 Province of British Columbia; 

 Corporate donations; 

 Public donations and contributions.  

 

Contact Us 

You can also contact us by email at station34@rcmsar.com.  Or by Telephone 1-250-743-8437. If you require 

any further information please visit www.rcmsar.com  or visit us on facebook.com/rcmsar34.ca.  

 

 

http://www.rcmsar.com/
mailto:station34@rcmsar.com
http://www.rcmsar.com/


 Nichiren Buddha Hokkeko 
(Lotus) Society

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050























 Oak Park Heritage Preservation 
Society

Amount Requested:  $20,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .101















 Providence Farm 

Amount Requested:  $50,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .252



 

 

 

 

Attn: Lyle Smith, Assistant Manager, Finance Division,  

members of the Regional Services Committee, & CVRD Directors 

 

Cowichan Valley Regional District 

175 Ingram Street. 

Duncan, BC V9L 1N8 

 

January 31, 2018 

 

Dear Mr. Smith, members of the Regional Services Committee, and CVRD Directors,  

 

Please find attached an application on behalf of Vancouver Island Providence Community Association 

(VIPCA or “Providence Farm”). We are seeking multi-year funding in order to complete a much-needed 

restoration project of Providence Farm’s characteristic “Providence House” (aka the “Big House”).   

 

The CVRD’s support is critical to this project and required so that this dynamic community space can 

continue to serve its important purpose. Please see the attached support letters as further 

demonstration of the importance of this project to our community.  

 

Multi-year contributions are essential to this project as this financial commitment will be leveraged to 

secure additional grant funding (e.g. a matching Community Gaming Grant - Major Capital Project 

grant) for this important project and catalyze donations to this campaign.  

  

Please note that revenue and expense estimates have been sourced from multiple bidders (minimum 

3) in order to ensure due diligence. As you will see from the budget and work plan documents 

(attached), we are still working on finalizing the exact revenues and expenses for years 2 and 3 of this 

multi-year project, as we are seeking additional financial and in-kind contributions and must wait for 

various quotes to be completed. Annual renewal requests will update this information as we receive it. 

 

We assure the CVRD that we see this funding as a community investment and look forward to working 

in close partnership on this important project, ensuring transparency and accountability every step of 

the way. We encourage adjudicators to request a presentation, or join us on-site for a facility tour, so 

that we may tell you more about this exciting project. 

 

Please contact Leah Boisvert at leah@providence.bc.ca or 250-746-4204 for more information.  

mailto:leah@providence.bc.ca
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Vancouver Island Providence Community Association (VIPCA) 

CVRD Regional Grant-in-Aid  
 

2018-2020 Application  

Description of project, event or service: 

This application seeks support for a 3 year 

renovation project to save Providence Farm’s 

iconic “Providence House” This historic structure 

has been standing since 1921 and understandably, 

shows its age. The renovation activities planned 

under this restoration project will remedy the 

building’s most time-sensitive maintenance needs, 

preventing further damage/degradation and 

ensuring that this important community amenity 

will remain accessible for future generations of 

Cowichan Valley residents.  

As is described in greater detail in the Budget and Work Plan (attached), this restoration project 

is broken up into 3 phases over 3 years.  

In the first year, VIPCA will replace all gutters and downspouts on the Providence House, 

preventing further deterioration in the areas where leaks have caused damage. This will be 

followed by the resurfacing and re-sealing of 2 decks also at risk of continued moisture damage. 

Finally, the exterior walls and attic will be insulated to leverage the fiscal and environmental 

benefits of the farm’s new gas boiler heating system.  

In the second year, VIPCA will scrape and paint the entire building to protect the wooden 

structure from future water damage.  

In the third year, VIPCA will replace all or some of the building’s original wood-framed windows. 

While the preference is to replace these unique windows, at an estimated $1000 per window 

(the high cost is due to the unique nature of these windows), and 135 windows to replace, 



 

limited funding may mean that some of the less damaged windows are selected to remain in 

place for the time-being.   

Who will benefit from the project, event or service? 

As an extensively utilized public space, Providence Farm is a resource that benefits all 

community members. In addition to the hundreds of clients and vulnerable persons that access 

the farm’s programs and services each year, Providence Farm provides all local residents with a 

vital space of education, recreation and restoration.  

In addition to the many public amenities 

available on the site (Farm Fashions, the 

healing labyrinth, hiking trails, etc.), the 

farm’s buildings – in particular Providence 

House – provide an accessible, affordable 

location for countless events (e.g. 

weddings, graduations, celebrations of 

life) and community group 

gatherings/practices (including yoga 

groups, choirs, local non-profits, etc.), 

benefitting thousands of community 

members every year.  

What will those benefits be?  

First and foremost, this project will benefit the vulnerable populations served by VIPCA’s 

therapeutic programming. There is significant need for services addressing those living with 

special needs (including mental illness and addiction, disabilities, age-related challenges) in the 

Cowichan Valley, a region with the province’s largest per capita number of persons with a 

developmental or disability challenge (Social Planning Cowichan, 2007) and rates of chronic 

mental illness and hospitalizations due to and alcohol or drugs that exceed provincial averages 

(Island Health, 2015). Programs like VIPCA’s Greenways and Segues services (both provided 

directly out of Providence House) are proven interventions that go beyond medical intervention 

to address social and cultural rights (Rioux and Daly, 2010) including determinants of health like 

education, employment, and income; social inclusion and supportive relationships; and 

personal health practices and coping/life skills (Mikkonen & Raphael, 2010; Our Cowichan 

Communities Health Network, 2014). 



 

VIPCA’s therapeutic programs and services help vulnerable persons dealing with multiple (often 

intersecting) barriers overcome challenges, develop resiliency, and make positive changes. This 

program provides a safe haven for those that may not easily be accepted elsewhere. 

Empowering activities (most taking place directly in Providence House) foster self-efficacy – 

encouraging participants to take responsibility for their own well-being by providing them with 

the tools, knowledge, and caring environment necessary to overcome struggles, reach their 

potential, and live fulfilling lives. Services intentionally overlap to offer a diverse range of 

participants with highly-individualized, comprehensive supports. (See Organizational Summary 

document - attached) 

Providence House is where participants 

take part in music therapy, 

craft/textiles/art therapy, and join in with 

many group activities (e.g. Farm Fit, 

mindfulness and yoga practice). It the site 

of life-skill and vocational training in the 

farm’s kitchen and the Farm Fashions 

store. This building houses program 

amenities like the Resource Room, 

Segues Lounge, Craft Room, and Art 

Studio – important spaces of exploration, 

growth, and belonging for the farm’s 

diverse clients. It is also the hub of all the 

administrative work that is required to 

keep these vital services benefiting those in need in our community.  

Providence Farm provides the Cowichan region with a range of publicly accessible 

recreational/educational/restorative spaces and important resources. Many of these are 

situated in Providence House including the popular Farm Fashions store and Farm Table 

Restaurant. Moreover, Providence House is home to the programs of many community 

partners (e.g. Cowichan Folk Guild, Beekeepers Association, and Cowichan Youth Choir – to 

name a few) and local groups (e.g. yoga classes, knitter’s guilds). In addition, many non-profit 

organizations (including Volunteer Cowichan, Cowichan Intercultural Society, Cowichan 

Therapeutic Riding Association) rely on VIPCA’s low-cost room rentals for important gatherings. 

Finally, Providence House is an important location for community events like the farm’s 

Christmas Craft Fair and The Cowichan Folk Guild’s annual Folk Fest, as well as countless 



 

weddings, graduations, family reunions, and other celebrations – all of which are attended by 

thousands of residents and visitors every year.  

What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? 

Providence Farm, and Providence House at the figurative and literal centre of it all, is a hub of 

community activity and plays an essential role in Cowichan life. 

As this application and the attached 

documents should demonstrate, this 

structure is a landmark in our community 

that is actively and thoroughly used by a 

large number of diverse residents of the 

Cowichan Valley. Moreover, many local 

services, programs, and community 

initiatives would not be possible if not for 

the existence of this vital space.  

Providence Farm’s “Big House” is a tremendous part of Cowichan Valley History, our present-

day culture, and our community's future. Providence House should be viewed as an invaluable 

community amenity - one that has benefited countless people over the past 97 years, and one 

that needs to be preserved for future generations to enjoy. 

If this project is not undertaken, we risk losing the use of this building (and the building itself) 

for the want of maintenance. Because Providence House is so much more than just a structure, 

this is unthinkable. 

Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in 
the community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism 
 
Providence Farm is a leader in social innovation, pioneering many programs, social enterprises, 
and integrated services that have put our region on the map. VIPCA’s programs and services 
build individual capacity within our region’s most vulnerable populations and shape a more 
diverse, resilient future for our community. (See Organizational Summary document - attached) 
 
On Providence Farm, volunteers of all ages, abilities, and backgrounds to join together to care 
for the land and each other. This sense of belonging is a shared value and fundamental 
inspiration for participants, volunteers, and visitors alike. 
 



 

As a charitable organization of limited means that has been managing Providence Farm’s 400 
acres of land with its many historic buildings for almost 40 years, VIPCA approaches every 
project with creativity and problem solving in order to maximize efficiency and conserve 
resources (both fiscal and environmental). The renovation/restoration of Providence House will 
be no different. (See Budget and Work Plan document - attached).  
 
Please describe cost reduction strategies employed:  

Further to the previous question, VIPCA plans on deploying every cost-reduction strategy 

possible in order to leverage existing resources, utilize in-kind contributions, and ultimately 

reduce the financial burden of this project. As described in the Budget and Work Plan 

document (attached), VIPCA will repurpose materials when possible and will involve 

participants (specifically those looking to develop vocational skills) and volunteers in the 

process when appropriate in order to reduce the expense of contracted professionals.  

Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions: 

As is outlined in the Project and Work Plan (attached), volunteer labour (specifically for 

preparation work and clean up duties) will be used when appropriate. While most of the 

materials required for this project will have to be purchased outright, VIPCA will actively seek 

in-kind contributions (or partial donations) of materials/supplies when possible and will salvage 

any materials that can be saved (for this project or future ones).   

 



 

Vancouver Island Providence Community Association (VIPCA) 

Organizational Summary  
 

Overview 

Providence Farm is a 400 acre farm at the foot of Mt. Tzouhalem in Duncan, BC. The land was 

pioneered by the Sisters of St. Ann in 1867 and eventually transformed, with the Sister’s help, 

into a secular therapeutic farm managed by the Vancouver Island Providence Community 

Association or VIPCA (est. 1979). In 2009, on the farm’s 30th anniversary, ownership of the 

property was formally transferred (gifted) to VIPCA.  

VIPCA’s programs serve adults (18+) with special needs 

- including acquired and congenital physical, 

cognitive/intellectual and/or developmental 

disabilities (including addiction/substance use issues). 

Frequent reasons for referrals include brain injuries, 

Downs’ syndrome, dementia, autism, and fetal alcohol 

syndrome.  

Programs, services, and grounds/facility upkeep are overseen by some 20 full time staff, 9 part 

time staff, and 70+ dedicated volunteers. Personnel also include interns, practicum students, 

and supported employees (clients with paid employment on the farm). Approximately 130 

participants access farm programs every year (about 75 attend each week). Over 12,000 

lunches are served on the farm each week – providing many clients with their only nutritious 

meal of the day. 

Best described as a radically inclusive community centre, Providence 

Farm provides a local hub for participation, achievement, and social 

connection – extending benefits to and beyond registrants and 

positively impacting the entire region. The Therapeutic Farm Program 

provides community members of all abilities with life-enriching 

services and empowering supports elemental to key social 

determinants of health. 



 

Programs and Services  

Greenways Self Help  

Serves: Men and women of all (adult) ages. 80 spaces are available each week (each space 

amounts to one six hour day). Participants access the program on a contract basis via Island 

Health (including: Mental Health and Substance Use – MHSU, Brain Injuries Program – BIP, and Early 

Psychosis Intervention – EPI); Community Living BC (CLBC); and trusts/boards established for the 

purpose of an individual’s care.  

Supported by: 8 full time staff + volunteers  

Running since: 1979 

Operates: Monday – Friday, 9am - 3pm; 50 weeks/year  

Follows a: Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR) model  

Description: The Greenways program provides participants with horticulture/nature based therapy, 

animal therapy, music therapy, as well as opportunities to develop skills and explore self-expression 

through woodworking, textiles, and arts/crafts. Workshops, educational events, and field trips 

complement these areas of interest. Life skills and vocational development are primary activities - 

including applied hospitality training in the kitchen (where participants prepare a healthy meal for the 

whole farm and also learn about nutrition) 

and retail experience in the Farm Fashions 

store (a thriving “free” store that provides 

clothing outreach). Group activities include 

“Farm Fit” (fitness training), mindfulness 

meditation, and yoga practice. Each client’s 

schedule is customized to include the 

interventions, activities, and experiences that 

best suit their strengths, needs, and goals. 

Peer mentoring encourages participants to 

flourish in their area of expertise/interest, 

share their knowledge with others, and 

assume a leadership role on the farm.    

  



 

Segues  

Serves: Adult male clients that require a higher level of support than is offered by the Greenways 

program. Approximately 10 men are enrolled in the Segues program at any given time. Like Greenways, 

participants access the program through Island Health and Community Living BC contracts.   

Supported by: 3 full time staff + volunteers.   

Running since: 2006 

Operates: Monday – Friday, 9am - 3pm; 50 weeks/year  

Follows a: Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR) model  

Description: Through a Horticultural/Nature-Based therapeutic approach, participants learn life skills, 

develop self-efficacy, and discover abilities through agricultural activities (e.g. firewood cording, apple 

cider production, garden maintenance) and hands-on work around the farm (e.g. grounds keeping, 

recycling, laundry, seasonal displays, and event 

set up/tear down).  

When appropriate, and with staff support, 

Segues clients will be incorporated into 

Greenways program activities/initiatives to 

provide additional experiences/opportunities, 

expand skills, and enhance social interactions. 

A standing example of this is the “Monday 

Morning Sing-Along,” a favourite of 

participants in both the Greenways and Segues 

cohorts.  

Saint Ann’s Garden Club 

Serves: older adults with age-related medical or mental health challenges and/or isolated seniors. The 

Saint Ann’s Garden Club welcomes approximately 28 members each week. Participants are referred to 

the club by Island Health (Seniors Outreach Team).  

Supported by: 2 full time staff + volunteers.   

Running since: 1990 

Operates: Tuesday – Friday, 9:30am – 2:30 pm; 50 weeks/year  



 

Follows a: Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR) model  

Description: Based on a horticultural/nature-based 

therapy model, SAGC provides seniors with a homelike 

setting (including a beautiful clubhouse), use of the 

solarium and/or greenhouse, and an accessible 

personal garden plot (a hip-height raised bed) to grow 

one’s own flowers or vegetables. What is grown can be 

taken home and shared with families or contributed to 

the club’s daily hot lunch program. 

Activities include seed sowing, transplanting, harvesting, canning/freezing fruits and vegetables, arts and 

crafts, woodworking, baking, movies, music singalongs, arts/crafts and board/card games/puzzles.  

The club provides seniors impacted by age-related disease/disability and loneliness with valuable 

recreation/entertainment, opportunities for self-determination, and vital social connections – enabling 

many participants to continue to live independently or within their own support systems (e.g. assisted 

living, families).  

One-on-One Support 

Serves: participants requiring continuous, one-on-one supervision. Approximately 5 individuals each 

year enroll for one-on-one support either through contracts (as described for Greenways/Segues) or 

directly via VIPCA.  

Supported by: As many staff members as are required for 

enrollment 

Running Since: 2008 

Operates: flexible - according to enrollment.   

Follows a: Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR) model  

Description: One-on-one programming is provided by personal 

support workers and is tailored to each participant’s unique circumstances with a focus on developing 

life skills and building independence. Designed for clients that require intensive supervision, this service 

also provides respite for families and caregivers of persons with significant needs for support. Through 

integration with ongoing programs (e.g. joining in on group activities) and opportunities to work 

alongside farm personnel (staff, volunteers, participants), one-on-one participants are assured a range 

of experiences and opportunities for beneficial social connections.  



 

Farm Amenities  

Community Gardens  

102 allotment garden plots are rented to community members that do not have access to gardens/land. 

Rentals include access to the farm’s tool sheds, irrigation systems, and home-made fertilizer.  

Farm Fashions  

Farm Fashions is a booming “free store” that operates 

like a thrift store, providing clothing outreach to 

hundreds of vulnerable persons each year (including 

farm clients). In addition to the skill and employment 

training this setting provides to program participants, 

Farm Fashions is a frequent destination for local service 

providers (including Cowichan Lodge, Cowichan Tribes, 

and Island Health) and is visited by approximately 50 

community members each day.   

Labyrinth  

Honoring the traditions of healing 

landscapes and herbal medicine, the 

Labyrinth is a publicly-accessible meditative 

space that is filled with indigenous plants 

known for their healing properties.  

General Store 

Often the “starting point” for visitors to the 

farm, the General Store sells farm produce 

along with artisanal products created on-

site by program participants.   

Farm Table Restaurant  

This partnership between VIPCA and Vancouver Island University’s culinary program provides high-

quality hospitality training for students in our region (as well as an affordable, world-class dining 

experience for local residents).  

  



 

Recreation 

Providence Farm is open to the public every day, providing community members (and visitors) with a 

beautiful, highly accessible space for recreation, education, and restoration. Hiking trails, strolling 

gardens, and a self-guided historical tour are just some of the enjoyments afforded to thousands of 

visitors each year.  

Agricultural Production 

Providence Farm provides our community with 

fresh, high-quality, organic agricultural products 

(e.g. veggies, eggs, beef, chickens) that are 

accessed through the General Store, Veggie Box 

program, and Duncan Farmer’s Market. VIPCA’s 

agricultural activities provide our region with a 

working example of sustainable, small-scale 

farming that attracts visitors to region, supports 

the local green-economy, and contributes to 

food security in our community.  

Facility Rentals  

The buildings and grounds of picturesque Providence Farm provide our region with a one-of-a-kind, de-

facto community centre. Countless weddings, celebrations of life, graduations, and family reunions have 

been celebrated on farm grounds. Groups including the Cowichan Youth Choir, Cowichan Beekeepers 

Association, Cowichan Intercultural Society, and Volunteer Cowichan use the farm’s buildings for 

meetings, practices, and other community gatherings.  Annual events taking place on the farm include 

the Island’s Folk Festival, Special Woodstock, BCSPCA’s “Paws for a Cause” walk; and Hike for Hospice.  

Therapeutic Community 

Providence Farm is home to a number of complementary 

associations including the Cowichan Folk Guild, School District 

79’s Alternate School, and the Cowichan Therapeutic Riding 

Association. These organizations are more than just tenants. 

These community partners work in harmony with VIPCA programs 

and each other to create a symbiotic therapeutic community and 

integrated service delivery model on Providence Farm.  

  



 

Coming to the Farm… 

Bunnies in a Basket  

Participants working with therapy bunnies will take special field 

trips and visit different community locations (e.g. schools, 

seniors homes) to raise awareness about animal therapy and 

provide beneficial interactions to target populations (e.g. 

children, the elderly). Moreover, this outreach will provide 

participants with important opportunities for leadership and 

pride of ownership.  

Willow Tree Club  

With seed funding from the 100 Women Who Care project, VIPCA will pilot this stand-alone program in 

2018/19. The Willow Tree Club will support the program’s long-standing participants as they face age-

related challenges (such as Alzheimer’s), allowing them to “age-in-place” at the farm they’ve come to 

know as home.  



VIPCA Providence House Restoration Project 

Budget - Year 1 (Fiscal Y/E 2018-2019)

Expense General CVRD In-Kind Total 

Gutter and Downspout Replacement 

Labour

Removal of old gutter system (professional) 5,000.00$          5,000.00$          

Clean up/disposal of old system - 20 hours (volunteers) 800.00$              800.00$              

Installation of new system (professional) 2,500.00$          2,500.00$          

Project management (VIPCA staff) 460.00$              460.00$              

Materials 

Gutters, facial boards, assorted supplies 272.45$              8,000.00$          8,272.45$          

Rentals

Boom Lift 142.84$              1,000.00$          1,142.84$          

Contingency (15%) 1,606.29$          1,000.00$          2,606.29$          

Total - Gutter replacement 2,481.58$          17,500.00$        800.00$              20,781.58$        

Resurface and Seal Decks 

Labour 

Powerwashing and Prep Labour (professional)  200.00$              200.00$              

Resurfacing of decks - 70 hours (volunteer) 1,400.00$          1,400.00$          

Project management (VIPCA staff) 230.00$              230.00$              

Materials 

Behr Paint (2011 sq. feet) 326.00$              1,000.00$          1,326.00$          

Rentals 

Tool and equipment rentals 1,500.00$          1,500.00$          

Contingency (15%) 698.40$              698.40$              

Total - Resurfacing/sealing decks 1,454.40$          2,500.00$          1,400.00$          5,354.40$          

Insulation (Exterior Walls and Attic) 

Labour 

Retrofit and insulate exterior walls (professional) 756.25$              23,000.00$        23,756.25$        

Patching work - 90 hours (volunteers) 1,800.00$          1,800.00$          

Project management (VIPCA staff) 460.00$              460.00$              

Materials 

Attic venting and insulation 237.00$              6,000.00$          6,237.00$          



VIPCA Providence House Restoration Project 

Budget - Year 1 (Fiscal Y/E 2018-2019)

Contingency (15%) 3,567.99$          1,000.00$          4,567.99$          

Total - Insulation 5,021.24$          30,000.00$        1,800.00$          36,821.24$        

Total Year 1 Renovation Project Expense 8,957.22$          50,000.00$        4,000.00$          62,957.22$        

Revenue General CVRD In-Kind Total 

Grants

CVRD Regional Grant-in-Aid 50,000.00$        50,000.00$        

Organization's Contributions* 8,957.22$          8,957.22$          

* derived from unrestricted fundraising, donations, and social enterprise activities 

In-Kind Contributions (200 hours valued at $20/hour) 4,000.00$          4,000.00$          

Total Year 1 Renovation Project Revenue 8,957.22$          50,000.00$        4,000.00$          62,957.22$        

Revenue Over Expenses -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    



VIPCA Providence House Restoration Project 

Budget - Year 2 (Fiscal Y/E 2019-2020)

Expense General CVRD In-Kind Total 

Painting of Building 

Labour

Painting (professional) 46,940.00$        40,000.00$        86,940.00$        

Prep work and clean up - 60 hours (volunteer) 1,200.00$          1,200.00$          

Project management (VIPCA staff) 920.00$             920.00$             

Materials 

Paint and supplies 5,500.00$          5,000.00$          10,500.00$        

Rentals

Arial Lift 3,925.00$          5,000.00$          8,925.00$          

Contingency (15%) 16,092.75$        16,092.75$        

Total 73,377.75$        50,000.00$        1,200.00$          124,577.75$     

Total Year 2 Renovation Project Expense 73,377.75$        50,000.00$        1,200.00$          124,577.75$     

Revenue General CVRD In-Kind Total 

Grants

CVRD Regional Grant-in-Aid 50,000.00$        50,000.00$        

Community Gaming Grant: Major Capital Project 50,000.00$        50,000.00$        

Community Gaming Grant: Minor Capital Project 15,000.00$        15,000.00$        

Other Grants  5,000.00$          5,000.00$          

Organization's Contributions* 3,377.75$          3,377.75$          

* derived from unrestricted fundraising, donations, and social enterprise activities 

In-Kind Contributions (60 hours valued at $20/hour) 1,200.00$          1,200.00$          

Total Year 2 Renovation Project Revenue 73,377.75$        50,000.00$        1,200.00$          124,577.75$     

Revenue Over Expenses -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    



VIPCA Providence House Restoration Project 

Budget - Year 3 (Fiscal Y/E 2020-2021)

Expense General CVRD In-Kind Total 

Replacement of Windows 

Labour

Installation $200 per window x 135 (professional) 17,000.00$       10,000.00$        27,000.00$        

Prep work - 30 hours (volunteer) 600.00$             600.00$             

Project management (VIPCA staff) 920.00$             920.00$             

Materials 

Windows @ $800 each x 135 68,000.00$       40,000.00$        108,000.00$     

Contingency (15%) 24,438.00$       24,438.00$        

Total 110,358.00$     50,000.00$        600.00$             160,958.00$     

Total Year 3 Renovation Project Expense 110,358.00$     50,000.00$        600.00$             160,958.00$     

Revenue General CVRD In-Kind Total 

Grants

CVRD Regional Grant-in-Aid 50,000.00$        50,000.00$        

Community Gaming Grant: Major Capital Project 75,000.00$       75,000.00$        

Community Gaming Grant: Minor Capital Project 15,000.00$       15,000.00$        

Other Grants 15,000.00$       15,000.00$        

Organization's Contributions* 5,358.00$          5,358.00$          

* derived from unrestricted fundraising, donations, and social enterprise activities 

In-Kind Contributions (30 hours valued at $20/hour) 600.00$             600.00$             

Total Year 3 Renovation Project Revenue 110,358.00$     50,000.00$        600.00$             160,958.00$     

Revenue Over Expenses -$                   -$                    -$                    -$                    



Pending Confirmed Total 

Contract Revenue
CLBC contracts -$                           416,555.12$             416,555.12$             

VIHA Contracts -$                           261,610.00$             261,610.00$             

total contract revenue -$                       678,165.12$         678,165.12$         

Donations
Individuals 73,157.00$               -$                           73,157.00$               

Businesses 13,350.00$               -$                           13,350.00$               

Community Organizations 10,000.00$               -$                           10,000.00$               

Foundations 25,000.00$               -$                           25,000.00$               

total donations 121,507.00$         -$                       121,507.00$         

Fundraising Events
Calendar sales 859.00$                    -$                           859.00$                    

Farm Dance 9,905.00$                 -$                           9,905.00$                 

Feast of Fields 4,000.00$                 -$                           4,000.00$                 

Island Folk Fest 5,000.00$                 -$                           5,000.00$                 

Pumpkin Hay Rides 3,100.00$                 -$                           3,100.00$                 

Special Woodstock 2,000.00$                 -$                           2,000.00$                 

Tours 780.00$                    -$                           780.00$                    

Christmas Craft Fair 4,600.00$                 -$                           4,600.00$                 

total fundraising events 30,244.00$           -$                       30,244.00$           

Grants

CVRD Regional Grant in Aid 50,000.00$               -$                           50,000.00$               

Community Gaming Grant - Program Funding 82,200.00$               -$                           82,200.00$               

Wage Subsidies 7,000.00$                 -$                           7,000.00$                 

SSA Esthers Dream Fund 25,000.00$               -$                           25,000.00$               

Other Grants 60,000.00$               -$                           60,000.00$               

total grant revenue 224,200.00$         -$                       224,200.00$         

Interest and Other Revenue
Miscellaneous Income 8,516.88$                 -$                           8,516.88$                 

Endowment Fund Interest Income -$                           6,400.00$                 6,400.00$                 

total interest and misc. revenue 8,516.88$             6,400.00$             14,916.88$           

Rental Revenue
Occasional Revenue 22,000.00$               -$                           22,000.00$               

Wedding Revenue 30,000.00$               -$                           30,000.00$               

Tenant Rental -$                           98,469.00$               98,469.00$               

total rental revenue 52,000.00$           98,469.00$           150,469.00$         

Revenue 

Vancouver Island Providence Community Association

Organizational Budget

April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019



Sales Revenue
Farming 120,000.00$             -$                           120,000.00$             

General Store 36,600.00$               -$                           36,600.00$               

Farm Fashions 12,394.00$               -$                           12,394.00$               

Woodworking 19,000.00$               -$                           19,000.00$               

Kitchen sales 13,500.00$               -$                           13,500.00$               

SAGC Products 1,700.00$                 -$                           1,700.00$                 

Textiles products 700.00$                    -$                           700.00$                    

Segues Sales 2,500.00$                 -$                           2,500.00$                 

total sales revenue 206,394.00$         -$                       206,394.00$         

User Fees
Allotment Gardens -$                           3,300.00$                 3,300.00$                 

SAGC Fees -$                           11,290.00$               11,290.00$               

total user fees -$                       14,590.00$           14,590.00$           

Membership Revenue
families 300.00$                    -$                           300.00$                    

Individuals 1,200.00$                 -$                           1,200.00$                 

total membership revenue 1,500.00$             -$                       1,500.00$             

Total Revenue 644,361.88$      797,624.12$      1,441,986.00$   

General Total 

Administration Costs

Advertising and Promotion 3,650.00$                 -$                           3,650.00$                 

PST expense 2,319.00$                 -$                           2,319.00$                 

janitorial supplies 600.00$                    -$                           600.00$                    

Office Supplies 9,596.00$                 -$                           9,596.00$                 

Bank and 3rd party charges 10,569.00$               -$                           10,569.00$               

Postage and Freight 2,060.00$                 -$                           2,060.00$                 

total Administration costs 28,794.00$           -$                       28,794.00$           

Fundraising Expenses
Farm Dance 5,000.00$                 -$                           5,000.00$                 

Christmas Craft Fair 1,000.00$                 -$                           1,000.00$                 

Pumpkin Hay rides 700.00$                    -$                           700.00$                    

Feast of Fields 100.00$                    -$                           100.00$                    

Island Folk Fest 700.00$                    -$                           700.00$                    

Calendars 500.00$                    -$                           500.00$                    

Other 13,000.00$               -$                           13,000.00$               

total fundraising expenses 21,000.00$           -$                       21,000.00$           

Professional Fees
Accountant 10,500.00$               -$                           10,500.00$               

Information Technology 3,874.00$                 -$                           3,874.00$                 

Veterinarian/Animal care 500.00$                    -$                           500.00$                    

Other 11,000.00$               -$                           11,000.00$               

total program expense 25,874.00$           -$                       25,874.00$           

Expenses



Program Materials
Food Supplies 31,000.00$               -$                           31,000.00$               

Program Supplies 9,300.00$                 -$                           9,300.00$                 

Therapeutic Animal Expense 1,100.00$                 -$                           1,100.00$                 

Plants, seeds, soil, fertilizer 5,100.00$                 -$                           5,100.00$                 

Woodwork Supplies 2,751.00$                 -$                           2,751.00$                 

Shuttle Service 1,500.00$                 -$                           1,500.00$                 

Safety Supplies 700.00$                    -$                           700.00$                    

total program materials expense 51,451.00$           -$                       51,451.00$           

Social Enterprise Expense
Farming 37,505.00$               -$                           37,505.00$               

General Store 14,703.00$               -$                           14,703.00$               

Rentals 4,640.00$                 -$                           4,640.00$                 

total social enterprise expense 56,848.00$           -$                       56,848.00$           

Security and Insurance Expense
Insurance 56,000.00$               -$                           56,000.00$               

Security Expenses 10,800.00$               -$                           10,800.00$               

total security and insurance expense 66,800.00$           -$                       66,800.00$           

Site and Maintenance Expense
Building and site repairs and maintenance 117,200.00$             -$                           117,200.00$             

Inspections 2,800.00$                 -$                           2,800.00$                 

Tools and Equipment 6,500.00$                 -$                           6,500.00$                 

Janitorial 15,000.00$               -$                           15,000.00$               

total site and maintenance expense 141,500.00$         -$                       141,500.00$         

Staff and Board Development
Staff Training, Development and Expenses 16,500.00$               -$                           16,500.00$               

Board Expenses 3,700.00$                 -$                           3,700.00$                 

Volunteer Expenses 500.00$                    -$                           500.00$                    

total staff and board development 20,700.00$           -$                       20,700.00$           

Training Incentives for Participants
Segues 4,826.00$                 -$                           4,826.00$                 

CLBC Contract 3,509.00$                 -$                           3,509.00$                 

total training incentives 8,335.00$             -$                       8,335.00$             

Utilities
Hydro 35,000.00$               -$                           35,000.00$               

Internet 6,000.00$                 -$                           6,000.00$                 

Natural Gas 7,000.00$                 -$                           7,000.00$                 

Propane 300.00$                    -$                           300.00$                    

Property Taxes 386.00$                    -$                           386.00$                    

Telephone 4,500.00$                 -$                           4,500.00$                 

Water 100.00$                    -$                           100.00$                    

total utilities 53,286.00$           -$                       53,286.00$           



Vehicle Insurance
Diesel 1,000.00$                 -$                           1,000.00$                 

Gas 4,600.00$                 -$                           4,600.00$                 

Mileage 500.00$                    -$                           500.00$                    

Licence Plates and Insurance 4,000.00$                 -$                           4,000.00$                 

Repairs and maintenance 7,200.00$                 -$                           7,200.00$                 

total staff and board development 17,300.00$           -$                       17,300.00$           

Wages and Benefits
Supported Employees 37,000.00$               -$                           37,000.00$               

Regular Staff 718,480.00$             -$                           718,480.00$             

Relief Staff 27,000.00$               -$                           27,000.00$               

Benefits 86,118.00$               -$                           86,118.00$               

CPP & EI 62,000.00$               -$                           62,000.00$               

WCB 19,500.00$               -$                           19,500.00$               

total wages and benefits 950,098.00$         -$                       950,098.00$         

Total Expenses 1,441,986.00$   -$                    1,441,986.00$   
-$                           

Volunteerism 

General Program

program & site volunteers 6000 hours @ $18/hour* 108,000.00$             

staff volunteer time 300 @ $23/hour (average wage) 7,500.00$                 

Providence House Restoration 

volunteer labour (skilled) 200 hours @$20/hour 4,000.00$                 

total volunteerism value 119,500.00$         

* based on Cowichan region living wage 

Donated Goods and Services 
donated services (e.g. plumber, vet, etc.) 75 hours @ $50/hour 3,750.00$                 

donated goods (to program and store) assessed at fair market value 8,800.00$                 

total donated goods and services 12,550.00$           

Total In-Kind Contributions 132,050.00$      

In-Kind Contributions 
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 January 27, 2018

To whom it may concern

Since 2003, the Cowichan Valley Youth Choir has rehearsed weekly in the chapel at 
Providence Farm.  Our rehearsals take place every Thursday afternoon from September until 
May, with short breaks over Christmas and in the Spring.  The chapel is a great venue for us 
as it is a good size, has lovely acoustics, and a piano.  I have also attended performances in 
this facility over the years.

Our choirs (now four levels  -  we have grown since 2003), currently comprise fifty children 
aged 7 - 18.  It often happens that new young choir members tell me that they have never 
been inside a chapel before, and are in awe of that new experience, especially when I explain 
a little of the history of the building.  When I tell them how old it is they find it hard to even 
imagine.

I have talked with several people about the feeling of peace that descends whenever I enter 
the driveway from Tzouhalem Road, and have discovered that I am not alone in that 
experience.  Coming originally from a country (England) where our local parish church was 
built in the 13th. century, it is not often that a building here in our beautiful Cowichan Valley 
causes me to stop in wonderment of its history.  Just seeing the building appear across the 
fields is something I look forward to every time I am there.  I also enjoy meeting some of the 
people who take part in the many programmes held in and around the main building.  There is 
always an atmosphere of general happiness and contentment. 

It is my opinion that the “Big House” of Providence Farm deserves to be valued as one of 
Cowichan’s most important assets, and preserved to be enjoyed for generations to come.

Sheila Hilton Johnson
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 Scouts Canada 1st Lake 
Cowichan

Amount Requested:  $1,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .005



















Shawnigan Lake Historical Society

Amount Requested:  $10,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .050 









 
 
 
History of Cowichan lands: Pre-colonization Project grant 
  
Project/Initiative Scope: Projects and initiatives submitted for grant-in-aid consideration must be 
regional in scope (benefits between six and nine electoral areas and two and four municipalities). 
 
Which category is this Project? *(see page 3) Heritage & Social 
 
Description of Project: 
Collect and curate archival records, Indigenous stories and artifacts relating to Cowichan land pre-
European contact.  Collaborate with Cowichan Tribes to collect an accurate FN perspective of their 
history on Cowichan land, pre-colonization. The hope of this project is to help dispel European myths 
and documents on the use of Cowichan Traditional lands.  The process will be to reach out to First 
Nations communities to collect stories from elders as well as documented archives from Cowichan 
Tribes. This will result in a series of exhibits on-site, supportive on-line curriculum for schools and 
community groups.  In this process the museum hopes to establish a stronger relationship between the 
people of Cowichan Tribes and the community members of Cowichan Valley. 
  
Start Date: February 2018 
End Date: Jan 2021 
Year 1:  2018.  Gather research from archives, initiate and establish relationships with tribal elders, 
record stories from elders, create audio-library, share via interactive installment in museum, outreach 
and deliver stories to schools.  Reconciliation event on traditional grounds.  Commemoration project 
(CMA) 
Year 2:  2019.  Collect and curate artifacts.  Create and display exhibits on traditional foods/medicines; 
tools/baskets; art/clothing; recreation/leisure. 
Year 3:  2020.  Produce film based on research and previous year’s process.  Continue to nurture 
relationship, art installation, traveling road show… 
 
Is this project, event or service part of your core operations?  No 
 
Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization?  No 
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Who will benefit from the project, event or service?  
Cowichan Valley Community members, Students of School District #79, Private School students in 
Cowichan Valley, Visitors, and indirectly all Canadians as we serve to indigenize our history, members 
of Cowichan Tribes, Indigenous people in general. 
  
What will those benefits be?  
To address the mandate from United Nations, Federal and Provincial Canadian Governments to 
reconcile accurate accounts of history as told by First Nations people including stories from pre and 
post colonization. Colonization.  Through  acquiring an accurate knowledge of the historical land-use 
and the significance for the people of Cowichan Tribes we hope to engender positive relationships 
between settler and non-settler communities with the ultimate goal of decreasing racism., Our hope is 
to  with the meet this challenge issued by the United Nations and Canadian governments to create a, 



collaborative opportunity of listening and hearing the stories of our local First Nations community 
members  and which reflect the local government’s commitment to working with indigenous partners. 
See addendum below. 
 
 
What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? 
Tokenism of the Truth and Reconciliation recommendations that the Federal Government has shared 
with the Canadian people.  Without this project a continued misunderstanding of the traditional land 
use and history of Cowichan people in regards to their lands pre-contact, there will be a missed 
opportunity of greater aboriginal awareness and a  missed opportunity for relationship with Cowichan 
tribes. The continued myths surrounding First Nations people often result in racism which is 
devastating to the CVRD and all those who live here. 
See notes below for further clarification 
  
Please describe innovations used in this project and how it builds capacity in the community to 
address a need as well as inspires volunteerism:  
Collaboration between the two entities will establish and nurture a fundamental relationship between 
settler and non-settler societies. Our current museum houses only post-contact artifacts, and exhibits 
and displays.  This endeavor will honor the significance of local indigenous people and land-use in the 
CVRD, Vancouver Island, the West Coast and the role of Indigenous stories in Canadian history.  
Recommendations from the TRC notes that the arts are critical to reshaping collective history, making 
peace and creating a better future for us all.  
See outcomes below. 
 
By engaging our indigenous community, we can view history through a different lens shared in the 
traditional oral art of storytelling.  For it is in the sharing of our stories that we come to know the truths 
of others’ lives and history..   
  
Budget Information:  
Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for events/services. 
Total cost of the Project: $50,000 Grant in Aid applied for: $10, 000 (per year for three years)     
Will you receive other sources of funding? Unknown 
 
Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected: 
Amount: ________________            Source: ___CMA 150 commemoration project 
Amount: ________________  Source: ________________________________________ 
Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 
Amount: ________________            Source: ________________________________________ 
  
Regional Grant-in-Aid Application  Page 3 
  
Please describe cost reduction strategies employed: 
Travel and time spent  in the First Nations communities at the current elder lunch in order to collect 
stories. Using the stories/research already in place and housed by Cowichan Tribes archives. Utilizing 
Interns and summer students to transcribe the tapes and help with various tasks related to the project. 
 
Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions:  
Christine Westland, retired Clinical Nurse Special for the First Nations Health Authority has contacts 
and knowledge of Cowichan Tribes, is volunteering to lead this project in a culturally safe manner.  



Indigenous storytellers/elders.  Other Society volunteers will be involved as well. Special event 
assistants.  Anticipate artifact and art donations from Cowichan Tribe members. 
 
Addendum: 
 
67.  We call upon the federal government to provide funding to the Canadian Museums Association to 
undertake, in collaboration with Aboriginal peoples, a national review of museum policies and best 
practices to determine the level of compliance with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of 
Indigenous Peoples and to make recommendations.  
 
68. We call upon the federal government, in collaboration with Aboriginal peoples, and the Canadian 
Museums Association to mark the 150th anniversary of Canadian Confederation in 2017 by 
establishing a dedicated national funding program for commemoration projects on the theme of 
reconciliation.  
 
69. We call upon Library and Archives Canada to:  
i. Fully adopt and implement the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and 
the United Nations Joinet-Orentlicher Principles, as related to Aboriginal peoples’ inalienable right to 
know the truth about what happened and why, with regard to human rights violations committed 
against them in the residential schools.  
ii. Ensure that its record holdings related to residential schools are accessible to the public. iii. Commit 
more resources to its public education materials and programming on residential schools.  
 
70. We call upon the federal government to provide funding to the Canadian Association of Archivists 
to undertake, in collaboration with Aboriginal peoples, a national review of archival policies and best 
practices to:  
i. Determine the level of compliance with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples and the United Nations Joinet-Orentlicher Principles, as related to Aboriginal peoples’ 
inalienable right to know the truth about what happened and why, with regard to human rights 
violations committed against them in the residential schools.  
ii. Produce a report with recommendations for full implementation of these international mechanisms 
as a reconciliation framework for Canadian archives. 
 
Notes: 
 
Cowichan Tribes 
Coast Salish: Used to be tribes, now called Bands.  Extends to US, up to Campbell River?  With 
colonization came reservations, 9 tribes within BC decided to come together.  5000 people in many 
communities. Malahat separate from Cowichan Tribes. 
Politically language has come from Indian Act.  Important to get language right to get story right.  How 
did they come together and why and how did that impact the land.  Came together for funding.  Pre 
colonization, this was a feasting grounds.  Lots of contradictory stores, due to oral storytelling.  Take 
those stories/threads “Threads of Truth”.   
 
Needs: 
Access to work/research that’s already been done.  UVic/UBC thesis writers?  Malaspina College.   
Paid Cultural Advisor and student from indigenous community 
Sharing with children/adults all cultural backgrounds 
Documentary Film Maker 



Transportation is a challenge 
Hiring indigenous student is a challenge 
Will take 3x longer, cost 3x as much 
Need to recognize they operate differently than settler society 
Traditional healing ceremonies/herbs/times 
 
Outcomes: 
-the story of Cowichan land as expressed by members of Cowichan Tribes. 
-Oral stories available for museum visitors through visual and audible means. 
-Educational program about Cowichan Lands pre-colonization 
-Connect with Cowichan tribes to get their researched-based history into museum and education 
program to become mainstream – understanding of history of region.  This has not been shared with 
local settler society and visitors. 
Film, Gathering Event, 
Currently not available.  Provide the function to deliver that info. 



 



South Cowichan Volleyball Club

Amount Requested:  $5,636. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .028 

















VIU Foundation

Amount Requested:  $5,000. 

Residential Cost Per $100,000. Assessed Value - .025 



 

   

REGIONAL GRANT IN AID APPLICATION 

Organization Information: 

Name of Organization: _____________________________________________________________ 

Mailing Address: ________________________________ Postal Code: ____________________ 

Name of Contact Person: ___________________________________________________________ 

Telephone No.__________________________________     email: _________________________ 

 

Project/Initiative Scope: 
Projects and initiatives submitted for grant-in-aid consideration must be regional in scope (benefits 
between six and nine electoral areas and two and four municipalities). 

Which category is this project, event or service? *(see page 3) _________________________________ 

Which electoral areas and municipalities will this project, event or service provide benefit to? 

□ Area A – Mill Bay/Malahat 
□ Area B – Shawnigan Lake 
□ Area C – Cobble Hill 
□ Area D – Cowichan Bay 
□ Area E – Cowichan Station/Sahtlam/Glenora 
□ Area F – Cowichan Lake South/Skutz Falls 
□ Area G – Saltair/Gulf Islands 
□ Area H – North Oyster/Diamond 
□ Area I – Youbou/Meade Creek 
□ City of Duncan 
□ District of North Cowichan 
□ Town of Ladysmith 
□ Town of Lake Cowichan 

Description of project, event or service: _________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Start Date: ____________________________ End Date: ______________________________ 

Is this project, event or service part of your core operations?  Yes_______ No_________ 

Is the project, event or service already provided in the community by another organization? 

Yes__________    No_________ 
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information obtained from a moving vehicle including particulate matter size fractions and individual 
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If yes, provide details: ________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Who will benefit from the project, event or service? _________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

What will those benefits be? ___________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

What are the impacts of not delivering the service or completing the project? _____________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Please describe innovations used in this project, event or service and how it builds capacity in the 
community to address a need as well as inspires volunteerism: ________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Budget Information: 
Annual individual grants are limited to $50,000 for capital projects and $10,000 for events/services. 

Total cost of the Project, Event or Service:     $__________________ 

Grant in Aid applied for:      $____________________ 

Will you receive other sources of funding? Yes _________ No _____________ 

Please describe other sources of funding and amounts as requested or expected: 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 

Amount: ________________           Source: ________________________________________ 
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strategic policy initiatives related to airshed protection. More broadly, the project will support 
the education and training of students and promote community engagement with post-secondary institutions. 
We will work with CVRD staff and the VIU Cowichan Campus on public engagement and communication events 
related to the protection of air quality. 
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odorants, and will provide several opportunities for public outreach and knowledge mobilization on 
issues related to air quality. Furthermore, this initiative will showcase state-of-the-art technologies 
that serve to inspire youth, promote environmental awareness and support knowledge based economic development.
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from Vancouver Island University and made possible through prior infrastructure investments in 
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Please describe cost reduction strategies employed: _______________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Indicate any volunteer labour and/or in-kind donations contributions: 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Have you included your organization’s current annual budget and most recent financial statements? 

Yes_______________   No________________ 

 

 

Reporting Requirements 

If your organization is successful you will be required to submit a report which includes annual financial 
statements and a description of how the grant funding was spent and outcomes that were achieved by 
February 28 of the year following receipt of the funds. 

 

*Category: 

Social – projects that support the health, well-being and diversity of individuals and communities 

Environmental – projects that enhance or protect, enhance or restore environmental values 

Sport/Recreation – projects related to the provision of sports or recreation activities, tournaments or 
events 

Arts/Culture – projects that enhance the provision and availability of arts and culture services and 
amenities 

Heritage – projects that protect and interpret the region’s heritage values 

Economic Development – projects related to creating or enhancing economic opportunities 

 

Email will be used if additional information is required. 

Note: All applications must be received by the Regional District on or before January 31, 2018 to be considered for a 2018 
grant.  Please attach any additional documentation supporting your Project, Event or Service. 
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This project includes substantial in-kind and cash contributions from VIU including staff, student 
and faculty time. This project is made possible by a $1M investment in scientific instrumentation 
supporting research and development through the Applied Environmental Research Laboratories at VIU.
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Regional	Air	Quality	Mapping	Pilot	Project	

In	collaboration	with	Vancouver	Island	University	researchers,	this	project	will	
generate	neighborhood	scale	geographic	information	systems	(GIS)	that	
display	the	geospatial	distribution	of	atmospheric	constituents	that	have	an	
immediate	impact	on	regional	air	quality,	including	size	fractionated	
particulate	matter,	greenhouse	gases,	nitrogen	oxides,	ground	level	ozone,	
and	individual	volatile	organic	compounds.	This	project	is	enabled	by	the	
recent	completion	of	a	nationally	funded	state-of-the-art	mobile	research	lab	
that	is	capable	of	making	real-time	air	quality	measurements	in	a	moving	vehicle.	The	result	is	the	ability	to	
collect	data	that	depicts	chemical	concentration	and	composition	as	it	varies	over	time	and	space.	In	addition	to	
supporting	leading	science	and	student	training,	this	work	supports	strategic	policy	objectives	that	inform	
sustainability	initiatives	and	land-use	planning,	and	the	protection	of	human	and	environmental	health.		

Project	Objectives	

• Identify	how	air	quality	varies	over	time	and	space	in	urban	and	rural	communities	on	Vancouver	Island.	
• Assist	local/regional	government	partners	in	promoting	strategic	policy	objectives	related	to	clean	air.		
• Support	research	and	development	initiatives	that	are	aimed	at	using	real-time	mass	spectrometry	to	

identify	and	apportion	sources	of	volatile	organic	compounds,	and	contribute	to	dispersion	models.		
• Support	meaningful	scholarly	and	student	connections	that	respond	to	community	needs	in	promoting	

sustainable	management,	conservation,	and	protection	of	the	environment.	

Project	Timelines	

The	project	will	run	from	April,	2018	to	April,	2019	and	includes	at	least	one	intensive,	multi-day	sampling	
campaign	in	both	the	summer	and	winter	months.	Mobile	and	stationary	sampling	deployments	will	be	
conducted	near	and	around	fixed	monitoring	stations.	Additional	sampling	may	be	arranged	in	consultation	with	
community	partners.		

Project	Funding	

Cash	contributions	from	community	partners	will	be	matched	by	Vancouver	Island	University	and	the	Province	
of	British	Columbia	through	the	Regional	Initiatives	Fund.	We	are	anticipating	$5,000	from	each	of	four	regional	
districts/municipalities	for	a	total	cash	contribution	of	$20,000	from	
community	partners.	This	will	be	used	to	leverage	$20,000	cash	from	the	
Regional	Initiatives	Fund	and	$20,000	in-kind	support.	Funding	goes	to	
support	student	stipends;	transportation	and	consumable	costs;	and	
expenses	associated	with	meetings,	reporting,	and	public	dissemination.			

Project	Partners	(to	date)	

Community	partners	will	work	with	the	principal	investigators	to	set	strategic	priorities	on	specific	air	quality	
parameters,	plan	sampling	times	and	locations,	and	assist	in	the	public	dissemination	of	results.	To	date,	we	
have	received	interest	from	the	following	community	partners;	Regional	District	of	Nanaimo,	City	of	Nanaimo,	
Alberni-Clayoquot	Regional	District,	City	of	Port	Alberni,	Cowichan	Valley	Regional	District,	Centre	for	Coastal	
Health,	Mount	Arrowsmith	Biosphere	Region	Research	Institute,	and	the	BC	Ministry	of	Environment.  	



Example	preliminary	air	quality	data	from	the	mobile	lab	

	

Figure	1:	Ground	level	ozone	and	methane	concentrations	in	Metro	Vancouver	(2016).	Concentrations	denoted	
by	data	colour.	Project	supported	by	the	Fraser	Basin	Council	(BC	Clean	Air)	and	Mitacs	(Accelerate).	

	

	

Figure	2:		Mobile	mass	spectrometry	data	of	whole	air	samples	used	to	fingerprint	air	masses	in	Metro	
Vancouver	(2016).	The	size	of	the	data	points	depicted	in	the	map	is	proportional	to	the	total	concentration	of	
volatile	organic	compounds.	The	colour	of	the	data	points	is	used	to	denote	specific	sources.	Project	supported	
by	the	Fraser	Basin	Council	(BC	Clean	Air)	and	Mitacs	(Accelerate).	

	

For	more	information	about	this	project	contact;	Erik	Krogh	erik.krogh@viu.ca	or	Chris	Gill	chris.gill@viu.ca	



Timelines	and	milestones	for	Regional	Air	Quality	Mapping	Pilot	Project	
2018/2019	

Phase	 Task	 Timeline	 Responsibility	 Output	
	 Partner	

Consultations	
(multiple)	

Jan-Feb	
2018	

EK,	CG	 Review	
priority	
pollutants	

and	locations	
	

PROJECT	
PLANNING	&	
DEVELOPMENT	

Preliminary	
Trials	

Feb	2018	 UG,	ND	 May	involve	
PM	only,	
evening	
drives	

	 Planning	
Meetings	

Apr	2018	 EK,	CG,	LR,	NG	 Review	
sampling	plan	
with	project	
partners	

	 Data	
Collection	I	

July	2018	 UG,	LR,	ND	 Collect	full	
suite	of	AQ	
data	(one	
week)	

	
PROJECT	

IMPLEMENTATION	

Data	Analysis	 Aug	2018	 UG,	LR,	ND	 Generate	
maps	and	

chemometrics	
	 Stakeholder	

Workshop	
Sept	2018	 EK,	CG,	LR,	NG	 Report	on	

progress	
	 Data	

Collection	II	
Dec	2018	 UG,	LR,	ND	 Collect	full	

suite	of	AQ	
data	(one	
week)	

	 Data	Analysis	 Jan	2019	 LR,	ND	 Generate	
maps	and	

chemometrics	
	 Stakeholder	

Workshop	
Feb	2019	 EK,	CG,	LR,	NG	 Report	on	

progress	
PROJECT	WRAP	UP	 Community	

Presentations	
Feb	–	Mar	
2019	

EK,	CG	 Public	
outreach	on	
request	

	 Final	Report	 Mar	2019	 EK,	CG,	LR,	NG	 Maps	and	
interactive	
digitized	data	

files		
UG	=	undergraduate	student	
LR	=	Larissa	Richards	
ND	=	Nick	Davey	
CG	=	Chris	Gill	
EK	=	Erik	Krogh	



Budget for CVRD Grant-in-Aid 
 

Summary of Project Revenues 
Project Partner Cash Contributions In-kind Comments 
CVRD $5,000 (request) ✔   
VIU Regional Initiative Fund $5,000 (matching) $5,000 Staff, faculty and 

student time 
Totals $10,000 $5,000  

✔ additional in-kind contributions; technical advice, site access and/or meeting space. 

Summary of Project Expenses 
Expense  Budget Comments 
Undergraduate students $2,710 Matched in-kind 
Graduate Student $2,670 Matched in kind 
Technical Support $1,800  
Supplies & Maintenance  $780  
Travel  $1,040  
Knowledge Mobilization $1,000  

Totals $10,000  
	

Budget	Justification	

Student Researchers: We estimate 8 weeks of full time work for students on this project. 
This includes preparations, fieldwork, data analysis and reporting. We have budgeted 
$5,420 and $5,340 for undergraduate and graduate students involvement, respectively. 
We have cost shared this with 50% charged to this project and the remaining 50% 
arising from internal VIU sources. 

Technical Support: We have budgeted for 36 hours at rate of $50/hr for technical support 
in including maintenance and calibration of instrumentation and associated 
software/hardware for a total of $1,800. 

Supplies and Maintenance: Supplies associated with calibration standards, high purity 
gases, and sampling are anticipated to cost $780. 

Travel and Accommodation: This project involves several multi-day field campaigns 
(summer/winter) and associated travel costs for a three person crew, the mobile lab and 
a support vehicle. We anticipate 6 full days of sampling in the CVRD, plus an additional 
4 partial days of sampling. We have budgeted a total of $1,040 as follows.  

Vehicle costs: $1,040 (2,000 km x $0.52/km) 
 

Knowledge Mobilization: We will work with Community Partners on public education and 
knowledge mobilization, including one event in the regional district and one joint event to 
bring together partners from several regional districts. We budgeted $1,000 to support 
this activity.	



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
January 15, 2018 
 
 
Dr. Erik Krogh 
Department of Chemistry 
 
Dear Dr. Krogh, 
 
Thank you for the revised proposal that you submitted to the Vancouver Island 
University Regional Initiatives Fund Committee for your project, “Regional Air Quality 
Mapping Pilot Project.” 
 
The Committee has completed its review and is pleased to advise that funding of up 
to $20,000 has been approved for your project, which is to be disbursed for the 
purposes outlined in your proposed budget. Congratulations! We feel this project will 
be extremely valuable to the VIU region and provide valuable learning opportunities 
for students to engage in applied research. 

Please review the notes on the second page of this letter to process your award. If 
you have any questions, please feel free to contact Lyn Locke, at local 6324 or 
Lyn.Locke@viu.ca, or myself at local 6291 or Nicole.Vaugeois@viu.ca. 
 
Thank you for your work in developing your research proposal. On behalf of the VIU 
Regional Initiatives Fund Committee, I wish you every success in the completion of 
your project.  
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
Nicole Vaugeois,  
AVP, Scholarship, Research, and Creative Activity 
Chair, VIU Regional Initiatives Fund Committee 
 
NLV/ll 
 
cc: Don Noakes, Dean, Science and Technology 

  

mailto:lyn.locke@viu.ca
mailto:Nicole.Vaugeois@viu.ca


 

Processing your Award 
 

1. You will receive via email a Research Cost Centre Request package. Please 
complete the paperwork and return to the Research Office as soon as 
possible. If you need assistance with these forms, please contact Lyn Locke, at 
Lyn.Locke@viu.ca. Once the paperwork has been processed, you will be able 
to access the funds through purchase orders, travel advances, and/or expense 
claims with an authorizing signature from your Dean. 

 
2. If you will be purchasing any capital equipment, it must be purchased through 

VIU’s regular purchasing procedures. (See Policy 42.31 Purchasing 
Department | Vancouver Island University and Purchasing Department 
website). All equipment will be under the use and care of the proponent for 
the duration of the project, but ownership and eventual disposition will 
remain with the institution.  

 
3. For assistance with student hiring, please see the SRCA website.  

 
4. Grants from the Vancouver Island University Regional Initiatives Fund usually 

fund projects over a one-year period. Unused funds will be returned to the 
VIU Regional Initiatives Fund cost centre no later than three months after the 
end date of the award and at this time a final report will be due. If you require 
an extension for your award, please notify Lyn Locke with an update on the 
project and rationale to be considered by the Chair of the RIF Committee. 

 
5. The Committee also reminds you that it is expected that successful applicants 

should be prepared to make a public presentation of their findings. 
 

6. Finally, please be aware that any major changes to your project would void 
your existing award and require re-application as a new project to the VIU 
Regional Initiatives Fund Committee. As well, if you anticipate any minor 
changes in timeline, activities, or expenditures, notify Nicole Vaugeois.   

 
 

mailto:Lyn.Locke@viu.ca
https://www2.viu.ca/purchasing/proced.asp
https://www2.viu.ca/purchasing/proced.asp
https://www2.viu.ca/purchasing/
https://www2.viu.ca/purchasing/
https://www2.viu.ca/research/ResourcesForFaculty/ResearchPersonnel.asp
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the mass specmobile

Thanks to a $1-million investment from 
the Canada Foundation for Innovation 
and BC Knowledge Development 
Fund, VIU scientists are developing 
new technologies in a state-of-the-art  
mobile mass spectrometry lab, a.k.a. 
the Mass Specmobile, to make 
chemical measurements of air and 
water quality on-the-run. 

A mass spectrometer sorts molecules 
based on how heavy they are and  
can detect very low levels. The Mass 
Specmobile is essentially the world’s 
most sensitive nose, “sniffing” the  
air as it wheels around the block, or 
“sipping” water samples on-site to 
detect the unseen. 

Unique in Canada, the new research 
vehicle allows for the continuous 

measurement of molecules that impact 
the environment and human health.

Why is this so innovative? Right now, 
measuring contaminants in the air or 
water involves taking a sample and 
bringing it back to a lab, where it  
is analyzed and results are returned a 
few weeks later. The Mass Specmobile, 
which is still in the prototype phase, 
brings these analytical tools to the 
field, enabling scientists to understand 
the extent and degree of contamination 
at a study site in real-time. This 
molecular-level information can  
be mapped over time and space, 
allowing for a greater understanding 
of regional scale impacts. 

“It gives us that information when  
and where it is needed, allowing for  

a better understanding of what 
happens to certain molecules in  
the real-world,” explains Dr. Erik 
Krogh, co-director of VIU’s AERL.  
“This research vehicle will help  
us answer fundamental questions  
about the fate and distribution of 
environmental contaminants, both  
in the air and in the water, questions 
that are significant both locally and 
around the world.”

Aside from Krogh and the lab’s other 
director, Dr. Chris Gill, undergraduate, 
graduate and post-doctoral students 
are involved in this research and 
development project.

For more details, email Gill and  
Krogh at Chris.Gill@viu.ca or  
Erik.Krogh@viu.ca. 

Is there something strange in your neighbourhood’s air or water? 

VIU’s Applied Environmental Research Labs is developing new 

technologies that could revolutionize how we figure out what’s 

going on in our environment. 

INTRODUCING ...

BY J E N N M CG A R R I G L E
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Sampling lines continuously 
deliver air to advanced 
instrumentation inside for 
chemical analysis.

MOBILE MASS SPECTROMETRY LAB
a.k.a. the Mass Specmobile

Unique in Canada, the Mass Specmobile is a state-of-the-art mobile lab 
dedicated to measuring air and water quality. Here’s what’s on board!

A sonic anemometer measures wind speed  
and direction. A high-resolution GPS keeps track 
of current location and calculates the true wind 
speed and direction while driving. 

A weather station keeps track of ambient 
conditions including temperature, pressure 
and relative humidity.

A proton-transfer time-of-flight mass spectrometer measures a wide range  
of volatile and semi-volatile organic compounds. This instrument is very 
sensitive — measuring down to a few molecules in a trillion.

A membrane introduction mass spectrometer 
is very selective, allowing researchers to 
directly determine the identity of trace  
organic contaminants in complex samples.

The vehicle has been customized with 
additional on-board power to run instruments 
with the engine off for up to eight hours.

A particulate matter sensor measures the 
number of particles in the air as well as their 
size distribution. Particulate matter is a key 
determinant of respiratory health.

Ground-level ozone and nitrogen oxides are associated with 
poor air quality and are measured by photometric instruments.

A greenhouse gas analyzer measures 
carbon dioxide and methane using 
optical spectroscopy.

On computer screens, gigabytes of measured 
data are collated, calibrated and converted to  
a form that can be plotted on a Google Earth 
map for real-time viewing.

Dr. Chris Gill 
Chemistry Professor  
and Co-Director of the 
Applied Environmental 
Research Laboratories

Nick Davey 
VIU alum and post-doctoral researcher

Larissa Richards 
VIU alum and PhD student

Dr. Erik Krogh 
Chemistry Professor  
and Co-Director of the 
Applied Environmental 
Research Laboratories

a haiku inspired by 
the specmobile
“White, four-wheeled bloodhound;
maps made from its memories.
Hose for a nose. Sniff!”

                 — Dr. Caroline Tong,
VIU Chemistry Professor

photo credit: Island Expressions Photography
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
To the Members of Vancouver Island University Foundation 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Vancouver Island University 
Foundation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2017, the 
statements of operations and accumulated operating surplus, changes in net financial assets, 
cash flows and remeasurement gains and losses for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.  
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Vancouver Island University Foundation as at March 31, 2017, and its results of 
operations, its remeasurement gains and losses, its changes in net financial assets, and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

As required by the Society Act (British Columbia), we report that, in our opinion, the 
accounting policies applied in preparing and presenting the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards have been applied on a basis 
consistent with that of the preceding year. 
 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
May 18, 2017 
Victoria, Canada 





VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating Surplus

Year ended March 31, 2017, with comparative information for March 31, 2016

Budget

(Note 2)
2017 2016

Revenue

Donations and other revenue 4,547,100$             3,696,660$             2,374,624$             

Gaming revenue 76,000                    63,927                    72,006                    

Gifts in kind 120,000                  163,464                  134,648                  

Investment income 341,300                  637,681                  578,406                  

Realized gain on investments -                              7,157                      7,784                      

5,084,400               4,568,889               3,167,468               

Expenses (Note 8)

Fundraising 137,000                  196,055                  29,667                    

One-time extraordinary item - -                              348,758                  

Gaming 38,000                    35,699                    37,672                    

Investment fees -                              61,045                    58,326                    

Scholarships, bursaries and gifts 4,490,000               4,261,408               2,710,720               

4,665,000               4,554,207               3,185,143               

419,400                  14,682                    (17,675)                   

Endowment contributions (Note 9)                    500,000 391,491                  289,337                  

Annual surplus 919,400                  406,173                  271,662                  

Accumulated operating surplus, beginning of year 9,292,472               9,292,472               9,020,810               

Accumulated operating surplus, end of year 10,211,872$           9,698,645$             9,292,472$             

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Annual operating surplus (deficit)

2



VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

Year ended March 31, 2017, with comparative information for March 31, 2016

Budget

(Note 2)

2017 2016

Annual surplus: 919,400$                406,173$                271,662$                

Acquisition of prepaid expense -                             -                             200,000                  

Net restricted endowment contributions (500,000)                (392,469)                (308,645)                

Net remeasurement gains (losses) -                             206,746                  (233,624)                

(500,000)                (185,723)                (342,269)                

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets 419,400                  220,450                  (70,607)                  

Net financial assets, beginning of year 347,928                  347,928                  418,535                  

Net financial assets, end of year 767,328$                568,378$                347,928$                

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31, 2017, with comparative information for March 31, 2016

2017 2016

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:

Cash received from contributions and gaming 4,606,856$           3,141,473$           

Cash received from investment revenue 857,781                993,324                

Cash paid for administration and to generate revenue (231,754)               (217,707)               

Cash paid for gifts, scholarships and bursaries (4,370,375)            (2,423,930)            

862,508                1,493,160             

Financing activities:

Increase in endowment contributions 391,491                289,337                

Investing activities:

Purchase of investments and reinvested income (845,964)               (1,794,533)            

Net change in cash 408,035                (12,036)                 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,022,117             2,034,153             

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,430,152$           2,022,117$           

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses

Year ended March 31, 2017, with comparative information for March 31, 2016

2017 2016

Accumulated remeasurement gains, beginning of year 245,541$                  479,165$                  

Unrealized gains (losses) attributed to:

Equity investments 199,589                    (241,408)                   

Amounts reclassified to the statement of operations:

Equity investments 7,157                        7,784                        

Net remeasurement gains (losses) for the year 206,746                    (233,624)                   

Accumulated remeasurement gains, end of year 452,287$                  245,541$                  

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year Ended March 31, 2017 
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1. Incorporation and operations 
 

Vancouver Island University Foundation (the "Foundation") was incorporated under the Society 
Act (British Columbia).  The Foundation is a registered charity and is exempt from income taxes 
as long as certain conditions are met.  The Foundation's purpose is to help Vancouver Island 
University with its student programs and services by developing strong ties to the communities 
and by raising funds.  The accounts of the Foundation are included in the consolidated financial 
statements of Vancouver Island University. 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 

 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the following principles:   

 
 Basis of accounting  

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards. 

 
Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue is recognized when amounts can be reasonably estimated and when collection is 
reasonably assured as follows: 

 
Unrestricted donations and grants are recorded as revenue when receivable if the amounts can be 
estimated and collection is reasonable assured.   
 

Externally restricted donations are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period in which the 

related expenses are incurred. Externally restricted amounts are to be used for the purposes 
designated by the contributors. 
 
Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis, dividends recorded as declared 
and realized gains and losses on the sale of investments. 
 
Investment income that is externally restricted is recorded as deferred revenue and is recognized 
as revenue in the year which the related expenses (disbursements) are incurred.   
 
Endowment contributions are reported as revenue on the Statement of Operations in the period in 
which they are received.   
 
Gifts in kind are recorded when received and when the amount can be reasonably estimated. 

 
Pledges 
 

Pledges are recorded as revenue only when the donations are received by the Foundation.  At 
March 31, 2017, the Foundation has pledges receivable amounting to approximately $1,223,955 
(2016 - $1,095,476).  These pledges are not included in these financial statements because their 
ultimate collection cannot be reasonably assured. 
 
 
 
 
 



VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year Ended March 31, 2017 
 
 

 

7 
 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Cash resources 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with a maturity date of 90 
days or less at the date of purchase.  Cash subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current 
purposes is included in restricted cash. 

 
Investments 

 
Investments managed and evaluated as a group are carried at fair value.  Unrealized gains and 
losses on investments not related to endowments are recorded on the Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses, until realized. Unrealized gains and losses related to 
endowments are deferred until used for their specific purpose.  Valuation of pooled securities are 
based on quoted market prices of the underlying securities at the close of business on the 
statement of financial position date. 
 

Works of art and cultural and historical assets 
 
Works of art and cultural and historical assets are not recorded as assets in these financial 
statements. 

 
Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates) 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from management’s best estimates as 
additional information becomes available in future years.  As adjustments to estimates become 
necessary they are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. 

 
Financial instruments 
 

Financial instruments are classified into two categories: fair value or cost.  
 

(i) Fair value category: Cash resources are recorded at fair value due to the short term nature of 
the instrument.  Investments that are managed and evaluated as a group are reflected at fair 
value as at the reporting date. Sales and purchases of investments are recorded on the trade 
date. Unrealized gains and losses from changes in fair value of financial assets are recognized 
in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until such time that the financial asset 
is derecognized due to disposal, or impaired. At the time of derecognition, the related realized 
gains and losses are recognized in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating 
Surplus and related balances reversed from the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and 
Losses.  

 
(ii) Cost category: Gains and losses are recognized in the Statement of Operations and 

Accumulated Surplus when the financial asset is derecognized due to disposal, or impaired.  

(a) Accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.   

 
 



VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year Ended March 31, 2017 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Any gains, losses or interest expense is recorded in the 
annual surplus (deficit) depending on the nature of the financial liability that gave 
rise to the gain, loss or expense. 

 
Budget figures 

 
Budget figures have been provided for comparative purposes.  The budget was approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Foundation on November 17, 2015. - The budget is reflected in the 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Operating Surplus and Statement of Changes in Net 
Financial Assets.  

 
 
3. Financial instruments 

 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Public Sector Accounting Standards define the fair value of a financial instrument as the amount 
at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. The 
Foundation uses the following methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value of each class 
of financial instruments for which the carrying amounts are included in the Statement of Financial 
Position under the following captions: 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair 
value because of the short maturity of these instruments. 

 
The Standards require an organization to classify fair value measurements using a fair value 
hierarchy, which includes three levels of information that may be used to measure fair value: 
 

 Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted market prices in an active market for identical assets or 
liabilities, 

 Level 2 – Observable or corroborated input other than level 1, such as quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets or market data for substantially the full term 
of the assets of liabilities; and 

 Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that 
are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities 

 
Bonds and fixed term investments and pooled funds are classified as level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 

Financial asset impairment 
 

At each year-end date, the Foundation is required to evaluate and record any 
other-than-temporary impairment of its financial assets, other than those carried at fair value.  
Accordingly, the Foundation has compared the carrying value of each of these financial assets to 
its fair value as at March 31, 2017.  No provision for impairment was recorded in the current year, 
as the fair value of all financial assets exceeded or did not differ significantly from their carrying 
value. 
 
 



VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Year Ended March 31, 2017 
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3.  Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Risk management policy 
 

The Foundation, as part of operations, has established avoidance of undue concentrations of risk 
as risk management objectives.  In seeking to meet these objectives, the Foundation follows a 
risk management policy approved by its Board of Directors.  The Foundation manages this risk by 
diversifying its market holdings between fixed income and equity securities and through regular 
meetings with financial advisors. 

 
Foreign currency risk 
 

The Foundation has minimal transactions denominated in foreign currency. 
 
Credit risk 
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Foundation to concentrations of credit include 
accounts receivable and investments in other than equity investments.  The maximum credit risk 
exposure is $2,241,672 (2016 - $2,208,925). 
 
Management believes there is minimal credit risk associated with its accounts receivable and 
investments in other than equity investments as the Foundation expects that its counterparties will 
meet their obligation because they consist of Federal government receivables and because their 
deposits are fully insured under the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

 
Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument might be 
adversely affected by a change in interest rates.  Changes in market interest rates may have an 
effect on the cash flows associated with some financial assets and liabilities, known as cash flow 
risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or liabilities, known as price risk.  In seeking to 
minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Foundation manages exposure through 
diversifying its interest bearing investments. 
 
The Foundation is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to investments, which are invested in 
mutual funds that hold a widely diversified portfolio of investments of equity and fixed income with 
varying interest rates and maturity dates.   

 
Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Foundation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  Liquidity risk is managed by reviewing the Foundation’s future 
net cash flows for the possibility of a negative net cash flow.  The Foundation manages the 
liquidity risk resulting from amounts owing to Vancouver Island University by investing in liquid 
investments as defined in their investment policy. 
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3.  Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Other price risk 
 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or 
foreign currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the 
market.  The Foundation enters into transactions to purchase investments, for which the market 
price fluctuates.  The Foundation manages this risk through its investment policy which 
prescribes the maximum amount of investments that can be made in any one investment type. 

 
 
4. Investments 

 

 
 

2017 2016 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
$         1,179,734 

 
$         1,172,241 

Bonds and fixed term instruments - at fair value 1,049,909 1,030,375 
Pooled funds – at fair value  17,007,865  15,421,670 

    $    19,237,508  $    17,624,286 

Classified as: 
  

Portfolio investments 9,654,954 8,434,201 
Restricted endowment investments 9,582,554 9,190,085 

 $    19,237,508 $    17,624,286 

 
 

Fixed term investments mature between September 2017 – March 2022 and have a total maturity/face 
value of $1,115,008 (2016 - $1,097,041).  Interest rates range between 1.40% and 2.50%.  
 
The Foundation also holds a beneficial interest in funds held by the Vancouver Foundation, an 
independent public foundation.  The market value of funds held by the Vancouver Foundation is 
$568,060 (2016 - $526,218).  By agreement with the Vancouver Foundation, the Foundation is to 
receive annual income from the funds held.  These funds are held in perpetuity and controlled by the 
Vancouver Foundation and are therefore not included in these financial statements. Investment 
income from these funds is recorded by the Foundation when received. 
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5. Deferred revenue 
 

Deferred revenue includes unspent externally restricted contributions.  The main components are 
unspent annual fund contributions, externally restricted earnings and Vancouver Island University 
endowment matching contributions.  
 

 2017 2016 

 
Annual fund 

 
$       2,651,255 

 
$       1,971,471 

Endowment earnings 4,991,625 4,212,543 
Externally restricted earnings 632,716 577,300 
VIU endowment matching contributions 2,522,493 2,317,203 
VIU funded awards 429,358 469,813 
Gaming fund 38,485 31,113 

   

 $     11,265,932 $       9,579,443 

 
 

6. Payable to Vancouver Island University 
 
Amounts owing to Vancouver Island University are unsecured, with no interest charges and no specified 
terms of repayment. 
 

 
7. Accumulated operating surplus  

 
Accumulated operating surplus is comprised of the following: 

 

 2017 2016 

Endowments (Note 9) $     9,582,554 $     9,190,085 

Unrestricted 116,091 102,387 

   

Total accumulated  operating surplus $    9,698,645 $    9,292,472 
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8. Expenses by object 
 
The following is a summary of expenses by object: 
 

 
 

2017 2016 

 
Salaries & benefits  

 
$                603  

 
$                251  

Capital contributions 1,101,056 89,002 
Gifts in kind 163,464 134,648 
Gaming 35,699 37,622 
Hospitality 250 4,095 
Investment fees 61,045 58,326 
One-time extraordinary item -  348,758 
Other expenses 41,106 16,834 
Scholarships, bursaries, and gifts 3,128,337 2,487,071 
Services 22,647 8,536 

 $   4,554,207 $  3,185,143 

 
 
The Foundation’s primary purpose is to receive donations for distribution for scholarships and 
bursaries so segmented reporting was not presented as it does not provide any additional material 
information. 

 
 
9. Endowments  

 
Endowments form part of the accumulated surplus balance and consist of externally restricted 
donations, the principal of which is required to be maintained.  The endowment fund balance is 
restricted to be maintained into perpetuity. Investments are managed by an external fund management 
company.   
 
The Foundation has donor agreements in place which balances the intention to protect the value of the 
fund against inflation with the intention to maintain stability and predictability of income.  Consistent 
with these agreements, a portion of the expendable fund of these endowments may be capitalized to 
endowment principal to provide a larger investment base for future years. 
 
Endowments included as part of accumulated surplus is as follows: 
 

 2017 2016 

 
Balance, beginning of year 

 
$  9,190,085 

 
$  8,881,440 

Contributions received 391,491 289,337 

Capitalized interest 978 19,308 

Balance, end of year $  9,582,554 $  9,190,085 
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10. Related party transactions 
 
Included in donations and other revenue is $46,018 (2016 - $25,132) received from Directors and 
from companies controlled by Directors.  Included in deferred revenue is $2,522,493 (2016 - 
$2,317,203) in matching funds donated by Vancouver Island University.  Expenses for gifts to 
Vancouver Island University are measured at cost at the date of contribution. 
 
Foundation management and staff as well as the facilities out of which the Foundation operates are 
provided by Vancouver Island University.  These gifts in kind are not recognized in these financial 
statements. 

 
 
11. Economic dependence 

 
The Foundation is economically dependent on Vancouver Island University as it receives services of 
administration, personnel, supplies and facilities and equipment from Vancouver Island University at 
no charge.   
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